EXAMINING COGNITIVE-MOTOR INTEGRATION, PERSISTENT SYMPTOMS, AND BRAIN FUNCTION IN INDIVIDUALS WITH CONCUSSION

Miracle E. Ozzoude

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master Of Arts

Graduate Program in Psychology

York University

Toronto, Ontario

July, 2023

© Miracle E. Ozzoude, 2023

Abstract

In everyday life we interact with our environment in an indirect way, where there is a mapping between the viewed goal of our action and the required movement (e.g., using a computer mouse). Such tasks require cognitive-motor integration (CMI), where rules dictate the relationship between perception and action. The underlying CMI control networks that rely on intact frontal, parietal, and subcortical brain region connectivity may be compromised following concussion, resulting in an impaired ability to engage in complex movements. Here we investigate whether such relationships also exist in working-aged adults with persistent post-concussion symptoms (PPCS). Methods: Twenty-two individuals (5 males) performed two visuomotor tasks: one requiring direct (standard) interaction with visual targets, and one comprising a plane-change and feedback reversal (non-standard interaction) between viewed target and required hand motion (CMI). PPCS and dizziness were related to brain network function via resting state functional connectivity (RSFC) in six networks and structural integrity via cortical thickness in CMI-related brain regions and white matter tracts via diffusion tensor imaging. Results: We observed that lower cortical thickness in the inferior and superior parietal cortices were associated with dizziness and impaired non-standard visuomotor performance, respectively. Furthermore, higher PPCS severity was associated with hyperconnectivity within the visual, sensorimotor control, frontoparietal control, and dorsal attention networks, whilst hyperconnectivity within the salience ventral attention network was associated with higher non-standard visuomotor performance. Lastly, we found that lower white matter tract integrity in several long associative, projection, and commissural tracts were associated with lower visuomotor performance, PPCS severity, and dizziness. Conclusions: These findings characterise the impact of PPCS on the structure and function underlying impaired visuomotor performance, and suggest that CMI may be a noninvasive, easily accessible tool for brain network function assessment in those affected by concussion.

Acknowledgments

It definitely does takes a village to raise a child. Therefore, the current work would not be possible without several individuals. First and foremost, I did like to send my appreciation to my wonderful supervisor Dr. Lauren E. Sergio, who made my first formal graduate experience a positive and memorable one. Thank you for believing and trusting in me, and for the assurance of support every step of the way, especially during our first Zoom meeting during the pandemic. Thank you for creating a safe and positive space for broad discussions within the motor control lab. Secondly, Dr. Diana Gorbet, I'm not even sure where to start. I reckon I will be leaving York University a much better neuroimaging researcher because of your continuous encouragement and help. Thank you for entertaining every idea of mine and directing me to the appropriate resources when I reached a roadblock, especially with rsfMRI. I really do hope that someday, I shall reach your level of awesomeness/wholesomeness and emulate your patience and confidence in my career. I would also like to thank my committee member, Dr. Magdalena Wojtowicz for supporting me through completion of this project. Your guidance and input allowed this thesis to be possible and taught me the importance of feasibility research in academia.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to my labmates, especially Nicole and Maryam for their immense support during the recruitment phase. The both of you absolutely kept me sane during the entire process. Oh! Many thanks to Nicole for keeping up and answering my incessant questions throughout. No more impromptu Zoom/phone calls from me. Sorry!

To my family – Amaka, Stella, Charles, and Glory – no alphabets and words in any languages can contain my love and appreciation for you all. You have and always been my biggest cheerleaders in my entire life, especially you mum. Thank you for always believing in me, for being my biggest champion, and for showering me with unconditional love no matter the circumstances. I know I do not always say it every time, but I really do love you all and I am proud and fortunate to call you my family.

To my friends, I'm sending my love to every single one of you. I cherish you all and you know the drill. To my other mentors Drs. Ramirez, Tartaglia, and Black, in reference to my opening statement, my sincere gratitude to you. Thank you for taking the naïve little undergraduate

kid under your wings and nurturing him to his present self. You gave me the space, resources, and networks to grow as a researcher, whilst keeping me grounded. I am eternally grateful.

Thank you to the KITE Toronto Rehab's TD Graduate Scholarship for People with Disabilities for supporting my success and to further increase the involvement of people with disabilities in rehabilitation-related research. As a researcher with Spina bifida, winning this award meant a lot to me because I am motivated to be an advocate for researchers with disabilities because of the lack of representation in the scientific community. My disability is part of my identity and I hope my success will attract new candidates with diverse skills and knowledge to ensure the continuation of the program.

And to me, myself, and I. Keep your head up high Ebelechukwu. You are definitely a force to be reckoned with. Oh! Don't be too difficult on yourself, take more advantage of your camera, and Edinburgh will be a blast.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Table of Contents	V
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
Abbreviations	X
Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review	1
1.1. Concussion and Persistent Symptoms After Concussion	1
1.2. Neuroimaging and Concussion	4
1.3. Cognitive-motor integration. Concussion. Structural Integrity. and Brain ne	tworks9
Current study - Objective and Hypotheses	
Chapter 2: Methods	13
2.1 Particinants	13
2.1.1 witchains	13
2.2. IMEasures	14
2.2.1. Persistent Post-concussion Syndrome (PPCS) Assessment	
2.2.3. Behavioural assessment task	
2.2.4. Behavioural data processing	
2.3. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) data acquisition	18
2.4. MRI Preprocessing	19
2.4.1. Structural data	19
2.4.2. DTI data	20
2.4.3. rsfMRI for Functional Connectivity	22
2.4.4. Resting state functional connectivity (RSFC) matrix	25
2.5. Statistical Analysis	26
2.5.1. Relationship between Cortical thickness, RPQ, DHI, and Visuomotor performance	27
2.5.2. Relationship between RSFC, RPQ, DHI, and Visuomotor performance	27
2.5.3. Relationship between DTI measures, RPQ, DHI, and Visuomotor performance	28
Chapter 3: Results	
3.1. Participant characteristics	28
3.2. Relationship between Cortical thickness, RPQ, DHI, and Visuomotor perfor	mance29
3.2.1. Cortical thickness, RPQ, and DHI	29
3.2.2. Cortical thickness and Visuomotor performance	30
3.3. Relationship between RSFC, RPQ, DHI, and Visuomotor performance	
3.3.1. RSFC, RPQ, and DHI	30

3.3.2. RSFC and Visuomotor performance	
3.4. Relationship between DTI, RPQ, DHI, and Visuomotor performance 3.4.1 Along-tract and Entire-tract FA & MD, RPQ, and DHI 3.4.2 Along-tract and Entire-tract FA & MD and Visuomotor performance	
Chapter 4: Discussion	33
4.1. Limitations, Future directions, and Strengths	42
4.2. Conclusions	43
References	45
Tables	63
Figures	73
APPENDICES	93
A: Health Questionnaire	
B: Informed Consent	
C: Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire – RPQ*	
D: Dizziness Handicap Inventory – DHI	

List of Tables

Table 1. Study participants characteristics (n = 22)
Table 2. Frequency of endorsed persistent symptoms after concussion based on rating of 2 andgreater* on the Rivermead Post-concussion Symptom Questionnaire (RPQ)
Table 3. Brain regions showing a significant relationship between cortical thickness, dizziness- related symptoms, and visuomotor performance
Table 4. Multivariate linear regression models used to assess the relationship between resting state functional connectivity (RSFC), persistent PCS, and visuomotor performance
Table 5. White matter tracts showing a significant relationship between along-tract measures,persistent PCS, dizziness-related symptoms, and visuomotor performance
Table 6. Multivariate linear regression models used to assess the relationship between entire white matter tracts measures, persistent PCS, and visuomotor performance

List of Figures

Figure 1. Schematic drawing of the visuomotor transformation tasks. Lighter eye and hand
symbols denote the starting position for each trial (green central target)73
Figure 2. Sequence of events during one trial of the visuomotor task74
Figure 3 . 3D depiction of Desikan-Killiany atlas obtained from FreeSurfer parcellation of cortical regions
Figure 4 . White matter tracts of interest obtained from Tracula Constrained by UnderLying
Figure 5 . Example parcellation from a single subject initialised with the 200-parcel 7-network Schaefer atlas
Figure 6. Resting functional connectivity networks
Figure 7. The 3 subnetworks of the frontoparietal control network (FPCN)79
Figure 8. Cortical regions of interest80
Figure 9. Results from paired t-test between standard and PC+FR conditions
Figure 10. Significant cluster from region of interest analysis overlaid on a left inflated surface
Figure 11. Significant cluster from region of interest analysis overlaid on a left and right inflated surfaces
Figure 12. Relationship between mean intra-networks RSFC and RPQ-3 score
Figure 13. Relationship between mean intra-networks RSFC and RPQ-13 score85
Figure 14. Relationship between mean intra-SVAN RSFC and full path length in PC+FR condition.
Figure 15. Significant positive associations from along-tract MD analysis with RPQ and DHI scores

Figure 16. Higher MD in the entire right SLF-2 was associated with higher score in early	
persistent PCS	
cluster	88
Figure 17. Significant associations from along-tract FA and MD analyses with visuomotor	
performance	89
Figure 18. Relationship between MD in the entire-tract and standard condition	90
Figure 19. Relationship between FA in the entire-tract and PC+FR condition	91
Figure 20. Relationship between MD in the entire-tract and PC+FR condition	92

Abbreviations

AD = Axial diffusivity AE = Absolute errorAFNI = Analysis of functional neuroimages ANTs = Advanced normalization tool BOLD = Blood oxygen level-dependent CC = Corpus callosum CI = Confidence intervals CMI = Cognitive-motor integration CST = Corticospinal tract DAN = Dorsal attention network DHI = Dizziness-related inventory DMN = Default mode network DR = Directional reversal DSM-5-TR = Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders DTI = Diffusion tensor imaging DWI = Diffusion weighted images

EPI = Echo planar imaging

FA = Fractional anisotropy

fMRI = Functional magnetic resonance imaging

FOV = Field of view

FPCN = Frontoparietal control network

FPCNa = Frontoparietal control network part a

FPCNb = Frontoparietal control network part b

FPCNc = frontoparietal control network part c

FWHM = Full-width half-maximum

GLM = General linear model

GPIP = Group prior individual parcellation

- ICs = Independent components
- ICD-11 = International Classification of Diseases Version 11
- ILF = Inferior longitudinal fasciculus
- LOC = Loss of consciousness
- MCP = Middle cerebellar peduncle
- MD = Mean diffusivity
- ME-ICA = Multi-echo independent components analysis
- MP-RAGE = Magnetisation-prepared rapid gradient echo
- mTBI = Mild traumatic brain injury
- MTf = Full movement time
- PASTA = Pointwise assessment of streamline tractography attributes
- PC+FR = Plane change + feedback reversal
- PPCS = Persistent post-concussion symptoms
- PL = Path length
- PLb = Full path ballistic
- PLf = Full path length
- PV = Peak velocity
- RD = Radial diffusivity
- ROI = Region of interest
- RPQ = Rivermead post-concussion Symptoms questionnaire
- RPQ-13 = Rivermead post-concussion Symptoms questionnaire group 2
- RPQ-3 = Rivermead post-concussion Symptoms questionnaire group 1
- RSFC = Resting state functional connectivity
- rsfMRI = Resting state fMRI
- RT = Reaction time
- SD = Standard deviation
- SLF = Superior longitudinal fasciculus
- SLF-1 = Superior longitudinal fasciculus part 1

- SLF-2 = Superior longitudinal fasciculus part 2
- SMN = Sensorimotor control network
- sMRI = Structural MRI
- SVAN = Salience ventral attention network
- TE = Echo time
- TR = Repetition time
- TRACULA = TRActs Constrained by UnderLying Anatomy
- VE = Variable error

VN = Visual network

Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review

1.1. Concussion and Persistent Symptoms After Concussion

Concussion is a form of mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI) that results in a clinical syndrome due to biomechanical forces acting on the brain (Dimou & Lagopoulos, 2014; McCrory et al., 2013). Mechanisms of concussion include but are not limited to falls, sports, vehicular accidents, and inter-personal violence. Concussion usually produces a constellation of symptoms such as headaches, dizziness, sleep disturbance, sensitivity to light and noise, and memory and attention problems (Pardini et al., 2010; Prigatano & Gale, 2011). In most individuals experiencing symptomatic effects of concussion, symptoms usually recover within 7 - 10 days post-injury or gradually over three months (Leddy et al., 2012). However, approximately 10 - 30% of individuals continue to experience cognitive, physical, and somatic symptoms which can persist over an extended period of time (i.e. months, years, or permanently) as persistent post-concussion symptoms (PPCS) (McCrory et al., 2013; Prigatano & Gale, 2011; Toledo et al., 2012). Although there is a deliberation over the definition of PPCS, the diagnosis is defined according to the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11) as a mild neurocognitive disorder with a subjective experience of a deterioration from a previous level of cognitive functioning, accompanied by objective evidence of impairment in performance on one or more cognitive domains due to TBI (World Health Organisation, 2019). Furthermore, it may be captured to some degree from the current version of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5-TR) by the diagnosis of a major or mild neurocognitive disorder due to TBI that is accompanied by a loss of consciousness, posttraumatic amnesia, disorientation and confusion, and/or neurological signs, with the neurocognitive decline persisting beyond the acute post-injury period (\sim > three months) (American Psychiatric Association, 2022).

Loss of consciousness (LOC) can occur with concussion and is associated with more severe injury and longer recovery periods. However, it is not necessary for a concussion diagnosis since individuals with mTBI may experience transient confusion and lingering symptoms without LOC (Kelly, 2001). The heterogeneity of head injury outcomes emphasises the multidimensional mechanism underlying PPCS, thereby rendering it vulnerable to misconceptions in the diagnostic procedures because it lacks both a validated diagnostic biomarker and clear clinical guidelines (Choe, 2016; Origenes et al., 2019; Sharp & Jenkins, 2015). Whilst there is advancement in concussion research, there are still many aspects that require further investigation. These include risk factors associated with increased likelihood of PPCS such as previous history of concussion, pre-existing psychological and mood disorders, age, and sex/gender (Fino et al., 2017; Sharp & Jenkins, 2015).

Little is known about the association between different concussion mechanisms and the development of PPCS, but emerging evidence from several studies have indicated that certain populations such as older adults and women are at an increased risk of developing PPCS (Broshek et al., 2005; Brown et al., 2015; King, 2014; Varriano et al., 2018). Falls and vehicular accident-related concussions are a growing concern amongst older adults because it puts them at an increased risk for concussion and possible PPCS (King, 2014; Varriano et al., 2018). This is not surprising because complex tasks like driving require the integration of cognitive, motor, and visual functioning that have been shown to decline with both healthy and pathological ageing (Burke & Barnes, 2006; Stutts et al., 1998). Additionally, the increased risk of fall-related concussion commonly observed in older adults can be attributed to physical frailty (Chittrakul et al., 2020; Rivan et al., 2021). Several studies have reported that frailty is a stable predictor of future falls in older adults (> 60 years), and is associated with cognitive impairment and dementia (Cheng &

Chang, 2017; Fhon et al., 2016; Rivan et al., 2021; Samper-Ternent et al., 2012). Falls are the second highest cause of mortality in older adults and a significant predictor of injuries, loss of independence, and disability (Bloch et al., 2010; World Health Organisation, 2008). Thus, PPCS from fall-related concussions in older adults might be due to a greater number of comorbidities that increase their likelihood of never fully recovering. Conversely, sport-related concussion is the most common mechanism seen in younger groups (Wang et al., 2023). A retrospective study by Tator & Davis (2014) found that over half of their patient sample (50.7%) diagnosed with sport-related PPCS were under the age of 18. Their reported higher than usual prevalence of PPCS amongst adolescents was due to the inclusion of patients from ages 11 years and up, in contrast to other studies focusing on a target population of only professional and/or varsity athletes (Field et al., 2003; Moore et al., 2014).

Sex-related differences also impact the prevalence of concussion and PPCS. Several studies have reported the aforementioned differences on incidence rate of concussion, expressed symptoms, and recovery time (Broshek et al., 2005; Covassin et al., 2003; Farace & Alves, 2000; Varriano et al., 2018). Although the highest rates of concussion are usually observed in maledominated sports like American football, sports in which both sexes compete equally like soccer have observed that female athletes experience more concussions than male athletes (Kerr et al., 2014). Also, female athletes showed higher rates of acute neurological problems post-concussion such as impaired memory function, slower processing speed and reaction times, increased symptom severity, and longer recovery time compared to male athletes (Broglio et al., 2022; Brook et al., 2016; Broshek et al., 2005; Covassin et al., 2003; Master et al., 2021; Solomito et al., 2019). The longer recovery time in female athletes might also increase their vulnerability to another concussion before full recovery, thus increasing the possibility of PPCS (Bock et al., 2015; Covassin et al., 2003). Regarding other concussion mechanisms, a study found that more women experienced PPCS after falls and vehicular accident-related concussions than men (Varriano et al., 2018). The greater risk of PPCS in women from vehicular accident-related concussion was an interesting finding given that men are involved in vehicular accidents more often than women (Ramage-Morin, 2008). Possible explanations may be that vehicular accident-related concussions in men are less serious than other injuries, or that women are at an increased risk of developing PPCS from vehicle accident-related concussion, like sport (Varriano et al., 2018). It may also suggest a difference in symptom reporting or other factors like reduced neck strength and girth (Tiernery et al., 2005) that may put women at a greater risk for concussion.

1.2. Neuroimaging and Concussion

Structural, or anatomical, magnetic resonance imaging (sMRI) detects declines in grey matter morphology as an indicator of atrophy resulting from focal and/or global neuronal loss (Symms, 2004). Although there are no visible concussion-related structural changes observable in conventional neuroimaging like computerised tomography and sMRI (Klein et al., 2019), many studies have demonstrated alterations in grey matter morphometry using advanced neuroimaging techniques (Burrowes et al., 2020; Hurtubise et al., 2022; Mavroudis et al., 2022; Niu et al., 2020). A recent meta-analysis and systematic review investigating grey matter changes post-concussion (acute, subacute, and chronic phases) found higher and lower cortico-subcortical volume mainly in the frontal and temporal cortices, in addition to the thalamus and amygdala regions (Mavroudis et al., 2022). These results were further corroborated when using cortical thickness as a measure of grey matter morphometry, with regions including the parietal lobe (Mills et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2015). Since these aforementioned areas are implicated in several cognitive, motor, and sensory processes, these findings suggest that most PPCS may be associated with focal injury in these areas

(Mavroudis et al., 2022). Moreover, emerging studies have suggested that axonal injury may play a key role in the pathophysiology of concussion and PPCS (Warner et al., 2010).

Experiencing biomechanical forces to the brain initiates a neurometabolic cascade from damage to axons, and leads to a state of energy crisis due to increased glucose requirements that are needed to restore ionic balance (Barkhoudarian et al., 2011; Giza & Hovda, 2014). Moreover, cytoskeletal breakdown resulting from phosphorylation, ionic disruption, and altered axonal membrane permeability are by-products of the mechanical shearing and tensile strain associated with concussion (Barkhoudarian et al., 2011; Giza & Hovda, 2014). These pathophysiologic processes may lead to disrupted axonal transport, demyelination, and slowed neurotransmission, resulting in the loss of white matter microstructural integrity (Barkhoudarian et al., 2011; Choe, 2016; Giza & Hovda, 2014). These factors may also initiate multiple neural responses including neuroinflammation and vasogenic and cytotoxic oedemas (Choe, 2016; Michinaga & Koyama, 2015), which may or may not be reversible.

White matter microstructural changes can be detected using diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), which measures water diffusion along white matter tracts (Taylor, 2003). Tissue water diffusion is assessed based on rate of diffusion along three orthogonal axes (x, y, and z) using several DTI metrics namely Fractional Anisotropy (FA), Mean Diffusivity (MD), Axial Diffusivity (AD), and Radial Diffusivity. FA ranges from 0 to 1 representing the directionality of water diffusion, where a value of zero corresponds to unrestricted or equally restricted diffusion in all directions, and 1 corresponds to maximal diffusion in one direction (Rabinowitz et al., 2014). MD denotes mean diffusivity across all three orthogonal axes, with higher MD meaning increased rate of diffusion (Madden et al., 2012). AD represents diffusion along or parallel to the primary axis, whilst RD measures diffusion perpendicular to the primary diffusion axis, thereby providing more

information about the integrity of the white matter (Madden et al., 2012). Moreover, it has been proposed that lower FA with higher MD indicates microstructural declines associated with increased tissue water content and macrostructural tissue loss (Sen & Basser, 2005). Whilst lower FA without higher MD suggests microstructural changes without gross tissue loss (Sen & Basser, 2005). Moreover, lower FA with higher RD may denote demyelination, whereas lower FA and AD without higher RD may indicate axonal damage (Concha et al., 2006; Song et al., 2003, 2005; Sun et al., 2006). Regarding concussion-related white matter changes, multiple studies have demonstrated that specific white mater tracts are particularly vulnerable to traumatic damage (Gumus et al., 2021, 2022; Rabinowitz et al., 2014). DTI abnormalities are particularly prevalent in the corpus callosum (CC), internal capsule, superior longitudinal (SLF) and inferior longitudinal (ILF) fasciculi, corticospinal tract (CST), and thalamic radiation, and have been shown to separate participants with PPCS from healthy normal controls (Gumus et al., 2021). For instance, lower FA and higher MD in the SLF, ILF, body of CC, and internal capsule were sensitive to group differences between participants with PPCS and healthy controls and were associated with worse performance on attention and processing speed tasks (Xiong et al., 2014). One study examined longitudinal white matter changes in patients with PPCS over a period of four years and found lower and higher FA in the CC and SLF respectively, which was driven by changes in RD due to demyelination (Farbota et al., 2012). They also observed that the aforementioned FA changes were associated with both slower and faster visuomotor speed, thus emphasising important limitations when interpreting findings from diffusion data, especially on long-association, projection, and commissural tracts.

In addition to microstructural changes, functional connectivity changes have been documented post-concussion. Functional MRI (fMRI) measures brain activity based on the relationship between neural activity and haemodynamic responses, based on blood oxygen leveldependent (BOLD) contrast (Rosenthal et al., 2018). Factors that determine the level of BOLD response include cerebral blood flow, blood volume, and ratio of oxyhaemoglobin to deoxyhaemoglobin (Rabinowitz et al., 2014). Unlike task-based fMRI where BOLD signal is associated with a participant's performance on a sensorimotor or cognitive task, resting state fMRI (rsfMRI) examines the BOLD signal whilst a participant is at rest, awake, and not engaging in an explicit task (Raichle et al., 2001). Using rsfMRI, spatially distributed neuroanatomical regions that show functionally connected BOLD signal, i.e. significantly correlated changes in BOLD signal over time, have been characterised into various brain networks (Fox et al., 2005). Alterations in resting state functional connectivity (RSFC) have been observed after concussion in a number of networks, including the default mode (DMN), salience ventral attention (SVAN), and the frontoparietal control (FPCN) networks (Gumus et al., 2021; Hayes et al., 2016; Rabinowitz et al., 2014; Rosenthal et al., 2018; Sharp et al., 2014; So et al., 2023). The DMN is essentially involved in internally-directed cognition, such as mentalisation (Spreng et al., 2009), autobiographic memory (Andrews-Hanna, Saxe, et al., 2014), and emotional processing (Andrews-Hanna, Smallwood, et al., 2014). However, during the anticipation of and the responding to tasks that require attention to the external environment, this network is inhibited, allowing the brain to immediately switch to task-positive networks (e.g. SVAN and FPCN) (Dixon et al., 2018; Menon & Uddin, 2010). As such, both higher and lower RSFC have been reported in these networks and such changes are correlated with cognitive and behavioural impairments and or PPCS (Goswami et al., 2016; Gumus et al., 2021; Mayer et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2023). For instance, lower RSFC within several networks including the DMN, FPCN, and SVAN were associated with impaired working memory performance (Kasahara et al., 2011) and greater PPCS (Stevens et al., 2012). Also, Churchill et al. (2021) found that compared to non-concussed athletes, those that were

concussed in same season as neuroimaging acquisition had higher RSFC between the SVAN and DMN that was associated with higher symptom severity and reduced FA in white matter tracts connecting the networks. No significant neuroimaging and clinical results were found in athletes concussed in later seasons. The authors suggested the higher RSFC with lower structural connectivity may reflect a short-term predisposition towards internal stimuli, thus affecting their ability to anticipate blows and self-monitor for symptoms. Another study from the same group observed higher DMN-FPCN RSFC, which may be mediated by higher DMN-SVAN RSFC in addition to elevated FA, MD, AD, and RD in several white matter tracts of participants with mTBI (Wong et al., 2023). The enhanced RSFC was associated with improved performance on neurocognitive testing, whilst the higher diffusivity was related to higher symptom severity. Several studies have suggested that higher RSFC in the presence of abnormal structural integrity may reflect compensatory recruitment of additional neural resources to sustain cognitive processing (Rosenthal et al., 2018; Sharp et al., 2014). So et al. (2023) reported that in patients with moderate-to-severe TBI, there was higher RSFC within the DMN and bilateral FPCN between 6 -18 months post-injury, which changed trajectory in the opposite direction at 18 months post-injury. Also, Bharath et al. (2015) found initial higher DMN RSFC spread to other brain networks after 3 months, and their patients had neurocognitive test scores and RSFC that were comparable with healthy controls after 6 month post-injury. Conversely, an alternative explanation may suggest that the higher RSFC represents the dyssynchronisation of neurons due to brain injury resulting in a need for hyperconnectivity to achieve the same neural signal (Meier et al., 2017), as hyperconnectivity has been observed in other neurological conditions and may lead to cognitive and behavioural deficits (Schultz et al., 2017).

Together, these structural and functional neuroimaging studies provide strong evidence in support of incorporating MRI as a biomarker that may be sensitive to the immediate and long-term effects of concussion and persistent symptoms on the brain, in addition to potentially being useful for tracking neural recovery.

1.3. Cognitive-motor integration, Concussion, Structural Integrity, and Brain networks

Whilst many of our activities of daily living (work or non-work related) involve simple direct interactions in which the guiding visual information is also the goal of the movement, an increasingly technology-driven world has introduced many situations which require indirect interactions. An example of a direct standard interaction is looking at and then reaching to grab a cup of tea whilst an example of an indirect non-standard interaction is driving a car, where the limb motions are decoupled from the motion of the vehicle being operated. Successful completion of the non-standard interaction requires the integration of cognitive and motor skills. Moreover, cognitive-motor integration (CMI) explains how our brains plan and execute movements when there is a complex relationship between sensory input and motor output, especially in reaching movements when the hand and eyes are decoupled. This is because CMI is essential during these incongruent hand-eye coordination tasks, where rules dictate the association between perception and action (Sergio et al., 2009; Wise et al., 1996). As a result, CMI tasks employ different levels of decoupling, namely implicit sensorimotor recalibration and/or explicit strategic control, depending on the complexity of the task. Implicit sensorimotor recalibration requires the brain to adapt to the changes in spatial location and orientation when the sensory input is misaligned with the motor output (Bock, 2005; Granek & Sergio, 2015; Redding & Wallace, 1996), e.g. moving your computer mouse on the horizontal plane, while looking at the moving cursor on the vertical computer screen. However, explicit strategic control requires the implementation of a taskdependent rule to align the motor output with the desired outcome (Bock, 2005; Clower & Boussaoud, 2000; Granek & Sergio, 2015; Redding & Wallace, 1996), e.g. moving your computer mouse to the left in order for the cursor to move right. The explicit nature of the strategic control uses external feedback to overcome errors in hand movement (Clower & Boussaoud, 2000).

The performance of both standard and CMI tasks involves the activation of multiple cortico-subcortical brain networks, especially the frontoparietal-cerebellar and attention networks (Dixon et al., 2018; Ohashi et al., 2018), in addition to recruiting white matter tracts along these networks (Brandes-Aitken et al., 2019). Moreover, there are differences in behavioural and motor performance, in addition to differences in patterns of network activation between both tasks (Gorbet & Sergio, 2009; Sergio et al., 2009; Wise et al., 1996). Unlike the standard task where the eye moves prior to the start of hand motion resulting in straight trajectory of the hand (Neggers & Bekkering, 2000; Sergio et al., 2009), the hand movements during CMI task are less accurate, requiring more time with significantly slower reaction time for the initiation of eye movement (Gorbet & Sergio, 2009; Sergio et al., 2009). Thus, the decreased CMI performance may be a result of the extra neural processes for the required sensorimotor recalibration and strategic control (Gorbet & Sergio, 2009; Sergio et al., 2009; Wise et al., 1996). Recent research has demonstrated alterations in both RSFC of these aforementioned networks and white matter integrity due to ageing, concussion, and neurodegeneration (Hawkins et al., 2015; Hurtubise et al., 2020, 2022; Rogojin et al., 2022, 2023). Although there were no observable differences in CMI performance between females with and without PPCS, Hurtubise et al. (2020, 2022) reported that lower cortical thickness in superior and inferior parietal lobule and reduced FA in the SLF, ILF, and CST tracts were associated with poorer performance on CMI tasks. Several studies have reported sex-related differences in CMI performance and brain networks controlling CMI (Gorbet et al., 2010; Gorbet & Sergio, 2007; Gorbet & Staines, 2011; Rogojin et al., 2019; Sergio et al., 2020; Smeha et al., 2022). Gorbet & Sergio (2007) and Sergio et al. (2020) observed that CMI task performance in women was associated with greater bilateral pattern activation in the premotor and parietal regions compared to men, whilst men had greater activation compared to women bilaterally in the lateral sulci including the superior temporal gyrus and parietal operculum. Similarly, Pierias (2021) found that male athletes with sport-related concussion history had significantly worse reaction time than female athletes with concussion during a CMI task. Whilst these findings may provide possible insight into the neural correlates of CMI performance in sport-related concussion and sex differences, it is important to extend them to other concussion mechanisms and working-aged adults as indicated by the findings of Smeha et al. (2022), which showed faster recovery in CMI skill in working-aged females compared to males after adjusting for concussion history and age.

Current study - Objective and Hypotheses

Given prior research demonstrating that CMI performance is affected by sport and videogame experience (Gorbet & Sergio, 2018; Granek et al., 2010) in addition to brain injuries resulting from neurodegenerative disease (Hawkins et al., 2015; Rogojin et al., 2019, 2022, 2023) and concussion (Hurtubise et al., 2016; Hurtubise et al., 2020, 2022; Smeha et al., 2022), the main objective of this research project is to characterise the impact of PPCS on the functional and structural neural underpinnings of visuomotor performance in working-aged adults. Examining this demographic is imperative because previous studies have mainly focused on sport-related concussion in children and adolescents, university-aged athletes, and elite athletes. Therefore, the current study provides a novel approach in addressing the aforementioned relationship in working-aged adults with various concussion mechanisms.

Based on our previous findings, we hypothesised that participants with PPCS would demonstrate behavioural deficits on visuomotor tasks, especially in condition involving CMI, and that these deficits would be associated with alterations in RSFC and reduced white and cortical grey matter integrity. Importantly, we hypothesised that these associations would be observed in networks implicated in visuomotor control namely the visual, dorsal and ventral, sensorimotor control, and frontoparietal control networks, as well as several white matter tracts and cortical regions subserving these networks. Lastly, we predicted that alterations in brain functional connectivity and structural integrity would be related to PPCS severity.

Chapter 2: Methods

2.1. Participants

Twenty-two working age participants between the ages of 30 and 65 years were included in the current study (47.23±9.26; 5 males). Whilst we recognise that the term "working age" is between the ages of 16-65 years old, we reduced this range given the influence of age on cognition and motor control and focused on the age range for which we have the least available data. This is because our prior work has focused on youth, young adults, and post-retirement seniors (Gorbet & Sergio, 2007, 2016; Hurtubise et al., 2020; Rogojin et al., 2019). In addition to recruiting participants with PPCS (>3 months post-incident), exclusion criteria included uncorrected visual impairments, a history of stroke, epilepsy/seizures, active vestibular or neurodegenerative disorder(s) with the aetiology other than concussion (e.g. Meniere's disease or Parkinson's disease), acute psychiatric disorder(s), diagnosis of dementia or mild cognitive impairment, inability to provide informed consent, and inability to speak and understand English or French. A diagnosis of concussion/PPCS relied either on the accuracy of the participant's physician, referring clinic, or the date and mechanism of injury was recalled. All participants completed a health questionnaire which included mechanism of each concussion, number of previous concussions, and time since last concussion (Appendix A). None of the participants had gross morphological abnormalities upon examination of MR images.

The study protocol was approved by the Human Participants Review Sub-Committee of York University's Ethics Review Board, and all participants provided written informed consent (Appendix B).

2.2. Measures

2.2.1. Persistent Post-Concussion Syndrome (PPCS) Assessment

PPCS was assessed using the Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire (RPQ) (Eyres et al., 2005; King et al., 1995; Potter et al., 2006) (Appendix C). RPQ is a 16-item selfreport standardised questionnaire that records the presence and severity of PPCS. The 5-point ordinal scale ranges from 0 (not experienced at all) to 4 (a severe problem) with a higher score reflecting greater severity of PPCS. The RPQ is made of 2 groups. The first group consists of the first 3 items (RPQ-3: headaches, dizziness, nausea) and are associated with the early physical symptom clusters of PPCS. The second group comprises of the next 13 items (RPQ-13: noise sensitivity, sleep disturbance, fatigue, irritability, depression, frustration, forgetfulness, poor concentration, taking longer to think, blurred vision, light sensitivity, double vision, restlessness) and are associated with later psychological and cognitive symptom clusters of PPCS although the items from RPQ-3 might also be present.

2.2.2. Dizziness-related Disability Assessment

The impact of dizziness-related disability on quality of life was assessed using the Dizziness Handicap Inventory (DHI). DHI is a 25-item self-reported questionnaire assessing the physical, functional, and emotional components of vestibular dysfunction (Jacobson & Newman, 1990; Mutlu & Serbetcioglu, 2013) (Appendix D). The 3-point ordinal scale ranges from 0 (No) to 4 (Always) where a high score indicates an increased level of self-perceived handicap of vestibular dysfunction. The total score was 100 divided into three domains consisting of physical (24 items), functional (40 items), and emotional (36 items).

2.2.3. Behavioural assessment task

A detailed description of our visuomotor assessment has been previously published (Rogojin et al., 2019). All participants completed two visuomotor transformation tasks that were delivered using custom-written software. These tasks were separated into one standard (direct) condition (target viewed and finger motion are spatially coupled; Figure 1a) and one non-standard (CMI) condition (target viewed and hand motion are spatially decoupled twice; Figures 1b). In all conditions, participants were instructed to slide the index finger of their dominant hand along the touch screen (either on a vertical touchscreen using an ASUSTM touchscreen tablet or on a horizontal touchpad using an external Keytech[™] USB-touchpad that was positioned perpendicular to the ASUS tablet depending on the condition) in order to displace the cursor from a central target to one of four peripheral targets (up, down, left, right). The targets for the finger motions were presented on the vertical touchscreen in both conditions. In the standard (direct) mapping task, the spatial locations of the visual target and the required hand movement were the same (Figure 1a), i.e., participants both looked at and moved on the vertical touchscreen, thereby directly interacting with the targets. For the non-standard (CMI) mapping task, the finger movement was made on a different plane and in the opposite direction (plane-change + feedback reversal, (PC+FR); Figure 1b) relative to the spatial target location. Importantly, the PC+FR condition required the participants to look at the vertical touchscreen whilst manipulating a cursor using their finger on the horizontal touchpad requiring implicit sensorimotor recalibration. The feedback was rotated 180° , i.e., in order to move the cursor to the left, the participant must slide their finger right, requiring explicit strategic control and movements of the eyes and hand to be made in opposite directions.

All conditions were randomised. The red peripheral targets were located 55 millimeters (mm) from the central target. The finger motion and trial timings consisted of: 1) a central yellow

target with a diameter of 7.5 mm appearing on the centre of the vertical touchscreen, 2) participants moving a white cursor to the central yellow target and changing its colour to green once the cursor has entered the central target, 3) after a delay period of 2000 milliseconds (ms), a red peripheral target appearing and the central target disappearing, indicating the 'go' signal for initiation of a movement, 4) participants were told to look towards the visual target on the vertical touchscreen and slide their finger along the touchscreen or touchpad to direct the cursor towards the cued peripheral target (up, down, left, or right), 5) once the peripheral target has been reached and the participant has held that position for 500 ms, the peripheral target disappears, signalling the end of the trial, and 6) after a delay of 2000 ms, the central yellow target reappeared, signalling the participant to return to the centre for the next trial (Figure 2).

In all conditions, participants were instructed to move as quickly and accurately as possible. Each participant completed 20 trials per condition, i.e. 5 trials for each peripheral target.

2.2.4. Behavioural data processing

Kinematic measures, including timing, finger position, and error data were recorded for each trial and converted into a MATLAB readable format using a custom written C++ application. Unsuccessful trials (error data) were detected by the data collection software and resulted in trial termination if the finger left the home target too early (<2,000 ms), reaction time (RT) was too short (<150 ms), RT was too long (>8,000 ms), or total movement time was too long (>10,000 ms). Trials in which the first ballistic movement exited the boundaries of the center target in the wrong direction (greater than 45° from a straight line to target) were coded as direction reversal (DR) errors and analysed as separate variables from the correct trials. A custom-written analysis program (Matlab, Mathworks, Inc., USA) was used to analyse the data from the collection program. Velocity profiles were computed for each successful trial and displayed alongside a Cartesian plot illustrating finger position data and target locations using a custom analysis program. The movement onsets and ballistic movement offsets (the initial movement prior to path corrections) were scored at 10% peak velocity, while total movement offsets were scored as the final 10% peak velocity point once the finger position plateaued within the peripheral target. In situations where the initial movement successfully brought the finger to the peripheral target, the ballistic and total movement offsets were equivalent. These movement profiles for each trial were verified by visual inspection and corrections were performed when necessary. The scored data were processed to compute 7 different movement timing, accuracy, and precision measures described below. Individual trials which exceeded 2 standard deviations (SD) from the participant's mean for any of the outcome measures were eliminated prior to the calculation of outcomes.

The kinematic outcome measures were as follows: 1) Reaction time (RT), the time interval between the central target disappearance and movement onset measured in ms; 2) Full movement time (MTf), the time between movement onset and offset measured in ms; 3) Peak velocity (PV), the maximum velocity obtained during the ballistic movement measured in mm/ms, and used to calculate the 10% threshold used for determining movement onsets and offsets for each trial. 4) Path length (PL), the total distance (resultant of the x and y trajectories) travelled between movement onset and offset, measured in mm, calculated as both the full path length (PLf, start to final offset) as well as the ballistic trajectory (PLb, start to initial movement offset); 5) Absolute error (AE, end-point accuracy), the average distance from the individual movement endpoints (Σ x/n, Σ y/n) to the actual target location, in mm; 6) Variable error (VE, end-point precision), the distance between the individual movement endpoints (σ 2) from their mean movement, measured in mm; and 7) The percent direction reversal errors (%DR, only applicable in the PC+FR

condition), the percentage of total trials that constituted a deviation of greater than $\pm 45^{\circ}$ from the direct line between the center of the central and peripheral targets.

The procedure for combining some of the kinematic measures into composite scores to decrease the number of comparisons made in the data analysis was previously described (Rogojin et al., 2019). Briefly, all kinematic measures were standardised using z-scores and the composite scores were then created using simple averaging. A "timing score" was created as a composite of RT, MTf, and inversed PV (PV z-score * -1), and a "trajectory score" was a composite of PLf, AE, and VE. The timing and trajectory scores had a good internal consistency, as indicated by Cronbach's alpha values of 0.760 and 0.447, respectively. The timing and trajectory composite scores, RT, PLf, and %DR were then used for statistical analysis.

2.3. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) data acquisition

MRI data were acquired using a 3 Tesla (3T) Siemens PrismaFit scanner at York University. Participants received a T1-weighted anatomical scan using a sagittal volumetric magnetisationprepared rapid gradient echo (MP-RAGE) sequence. The MP-RAGE consisted of the following acquisition parameters: 192 sagittal slices (slice thickness of 1 mm, with no gap), field of view (FOV) of 256 x 256 mm, matrix size of 256 x 256 resulting in a voxel resolution of 1 x 1 x 1 mm³, echo time (TE) = 2.26 ms, repetition time (TR) = 2300 ms, flip angle = 8°. For assessing white matter (WM) integrity, whole-brain diffusion-weighted images (DWIs) were acquired with 64 directions using diffusion-weighted spin-echo single-shot echo planar imaging (EPI). The diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) sequence used the following acquisition parameters: 60 axial slices (slice thickness of 2.6 mm, with no gap), FOV of 220 x 220 mm, matrix size of 146 x 146 resulting in a voxel resolution of 1.5 x 1.5 x 2.6 mm³, TE = 84.0 ms, TR = 2600 ms, *b*-value = 1000 s/mm² (including one volume with no diffusion gradient, *b* = 0 s/mm²). Additionally, we acquired two reversed phase-encoded DWIs (60 slices, voxel resolution = $1.5 \times 1.5 \times 2.6 \text{ mm}^3$, TE = 84.0 ms, TR = 2600 ms, *b*-value = 1000 s/mm^2 , *b* = 0 s/mm^2) corresponding to anterior-posterior/blip-up and posterior-anterior/blip-down, respectively. The rsfMRI was acquired with multi-band accelerator factor 4 and multi-echo EPI sequence sensitive to BOLD contrast. Participants were asked to lie in a scanner with their eyes open and fixate on a white cross with a black background for approximately twelve minutes during which the functional sequence with the following parameters was acquired: $52 \times 1200 \text{ ms}$, flip angle = 50° . Each TR resulted in the acquisition of $3 \times 1000 \text{ ms}^2$, 1000 ms^2 , 10000 ms

2.4. MRI Preprocessing

2.4.1. Structural data

All anatomical scans was processed using FreeSurfer 6.0 (*"recon-all"*) pipeline with T1weighted MR as input (Fischl, 2012). Briefly, the standard reconstruction steps include intensity correction, Talairach transformation, intensity normalisation, skull stripping, subcortical segmentation, and cortical parcellation. Skull-stripping was performed on the Talairach transformed and intensity corrected and normalised image using a deformable template model. Voxels were then classified as either white matter, grey matter, or cerebrospinal fluid based on intensity values. Next, the segmentation of subcortical structures and generation of the cortical surface, followed by the classification of tissue intensities between the white and grey matters (referred to as white surface) and between the gray matter and cerebral spinal fluid (referred to as pial surface). All surfaces were constructed in the individual anatomical space. The surfaces were inflated into a sphere and registered to the FreeSurfer template sphere (fsaverage). The non-linear surface-based registration allowed for more accurate alignment of the gyri and sulci landmarks. A cortical parcellation of the template was then mapped back onto the individual participant and adjusted for small variations. The cortical parcellation was founded on the Desikan-Killiany atlas, a gyral-based atlas established using 40 participants (Desikan et al., 2006) (Figure 3). Cortical thickness was calculated as the distance between the grey matter and white matter boundaries (white matter surface) to grey matter and cerebrospinal fluid boundaries (pial surface) on the cortex in each hemisphere. All participants' images were visually inspected for excessive motion, signal drop-out, and/or other artefacts.

2.4.2. DTI data

Diffusion-weighted images were preprocessed in FSL (Andersson et al., 2003; Andersson & Sotiropoulos, 2016; S. M. Smith et al., 2004), MRtrix3 (Tournier et al., 2019), and TRActs Constrained by UnderLying Anatomy (TRACULA) (Maffei et al., 2021; Yendiki, 2011). For each participant, the DWI images were skull stripped using FSL *bet*, corrected for distortion, head motion, and eddy current using FSL *topup* and *eddy tools*. Additionally, they were denoised and bias field corrected using *dwidenoise* and *dwibiascorrect* in MRtrix3. The final corrected DWI was used as an input to TRACULA, a global probabilistic automatic tractography algorithm in FreeSurfer 7.2.0 (Maffei et al., 2021; Yendiki, 2011). TRACULA is capable of reconstructing 42 major white matter tracts, including the fornix which required the segmentation of the thalamic subnuclei (Iglesias et al., 2018). A detailed workflow of the TRACULA algorithm has been described elsewhere (Yendiki, 2011; Yendiki et al., 2016). The processing steps included: 1) cortical and subcortical segmentation of T1-weighted image using FreeSurfer as previously

described above; 2) within-subject registration of DTI to T1-weighted (Greve & Fischl, 2009); 3) between-subject registration in Advanced Normalization tool (ANTs) (Avants et al., 2008) to map each participant onto an FA template constructed from a training dataset in order to ensure that the relative position of the anatomical structures was the same for all participants and to map median streamline from the training data to the participant during initialisation (Maffei et al., 2021); and 4) the applications of tensor fitting for the extraction of tensor-based measures using DTIFIT and ball and stick model using BEDPOSTX (Behrens et al., 2003, 2007). Finally, the probabilistic reconstruction of 42 major white matter tracts. Importantly, step 3 was only used to initialise the reconstruction of the tracts, which was then refined by fitting them to the anatomy of the individual participant.

In this study, we were interested in the following region of interest (ROI) tracts because of their involvement in visuomotor processing and their susceptibility to brain injury (Hurtubise et al., 2020; Mustafi et al., 2022): the CC body (parietal and premotor), CC splenium, middle cerebellar peduncle (MCP), and bilateral CST, ILF, and SLF 1&2 (Figure 4). We visually inspected the above tracts for all participants. Tract reconstructions were considered successful if they traversed the relevant WM regions and reached the cortical regions that were used as inclusion ROIs in the protocols defined to manually label the training set (Maffei et al., 2021). Regarding the tensor-based measures, we extracted the FA and MD values averaged over each entire tract in addition to the FA and MD averaged at consecutive cross-sections of each tract. The latter resulted in an along-tract profile for each tensor measure.

The along-tract profiles for tensor measures were obtained using a pointwise assessment of streamline tractography attributes (PASTA), which is a type of analysis where an along-tract profile of a microstructural measure (e.g., FA) is generated by averaging the values of the measure at

21

different cross-sections of a tract (Jones et al., 2005). For each of the ROI tract, a 1D along-tract profile of FA and MD were generated by projecting the value of each measure from every point on every automatically reconstructed streamline to its nearest point on a reference streamline (Maffei et al., 2021). The reference streamline was the mean of the training streamlines for each tract in template space, ensuring that all participants' data were sampled at the same number of cross-sections along a given bundle. The length of each 1D profile was the length of the reference streamline in template space.

2.4.3. rsfMRI for Functional Connectivity

Multi-echo rsfMRI pre-processing was done using the Multi-Echo Independent Components Analysis (ME-ICA) pipeline in the Analysis of Functional NeuroImages (AFNI) software (Cox, 1996; Kundu et al., 2017). ME-ICA is a method for fMRI analysis and denoising based on the T2* decay of BOLD signals, as measured using multi-echo fMRI. ME-ICA decomposes multi-echo fMRI datasets into independent components (ICs) using FastICA, then categorises ICs as BOLD or noise using their BOLD and non-BOLD weightings (measured as Kappa and Rho values, respectively) (Kundu et al., 2017). Prior to denoising with ME-ICA, the functional data preprocessing steps included discarding the first 5 volumes of each rsfMRI timeseries. Images were then skull-stripped and image intensity is normalised (3dSkullStrip). The functional images were de-obliqued (3dWarp). Large signal transients were removed via interpolation ("despiking", 3dDespike) and slice time correction was applied (3dTshift). Motion correction parameters were calculated using the middle echo (TE2 = 30.15 ms, 3dvolreg). The skull-stripped anatomical and functional images were co-registered using the first volume of the middle echo images (3dAllineate). Optimal combination of the 3 echo times was performed prior to initialising ME-ICA denoising. In ME-ICA, BOLD signal was identified as independent components having linearly TE-dependent percentage signal changes. Non-BOLD noise components were removed from the time-series by ME-ICA using linear regression. The output of this process included a functional time-series that was reconstructed to include only the BOLD signal components of the data. All participants' preprocessed functional images were visually inspected for excessive motion, co-registration errors, and to verify that the functional data were not excessively noisy (a minimum of 10 independent components classified as BOLD signal by ME-ICA).

After ME-ICA. the final preprocessed denoised time-series and ("participantID medn.nii.gz") was used as input data for Group prior individual parcellation (GPIP) analysis. GPIP is an individualised functional parcellation approach that was used here to identify participant-specific functional resting network nodes in the preprocessed data (Chong et al., 2017). Network parcellations refers to the identification of cortical areas that exhibit functionally similar properties (Kim et al., 2010; Raichle et al., 2001; S. M. Smith et al., 2013; Sporns et al., 2005). The most common approach to parcellation relies on a mean functional resting state network parcellation common to a group of participants (i.e., the group average network), which is then projected back onto individual participant data (Thomas Yeo et al., 2011; Wig et al., 2014). These population-average networks have provided important information on the large-scale functional organisation of the brain (Buckner et al., 2013; Wig, 2017). However, populationaverage networks may obscure participant-specific network organisation and thus lead to inaccuracies at the level of each participant (Chong et al., 2017). Thus, there is a growing focus on person-specific parcellation to define functional parcels independently for each participant. Group prior individual parcellation (GPIP) was implemented to automatically perform parcellation of resting functional data into functional networks at the participant level (Chong et al., 2017). GPIP

is a novel cortical parcellation method that initialises parcellation using an atlas template. This initial parcellation is then refined for each participant using the participant's functional data to allow individual variability across participants in the boundaries of these parcels (Chong et al., 2017). The use of a template atlas for parcellation initialisation results in all participants having corresponding functional regions (aiding group analysis), whilst functional parcel boundaries can vary from participant to participant. GPIP iterates between two steps to continuously update parcel labels until convergence: (1) each participant's parcel boundaries (first obtained from the initialisation to the Schaefer atlas) are refined relative to their resting functional data, and (2) the concentration (inverse covariance/partial correlation) matrices from all individuals are then jointly estimated using a group sparsity constraint (Chong et al., 2017). Specifically, for the results presented in the current study, the preprocessed and denoised resting state functional data were first initialised with the 200-parcel Schaefer atlas (Schaefer et al., 2018), corresponding to the 7 functional networks atlas (Thomas Yeo et al., 2011).

Prior to GPIP initialisation, the denoised functional data were registered to the corresponding T1- weighted FreeSurfer anatomical images for each participant, converted from volumetric to surface space, and resampled to the FreeSurfer cortical surface template (fsaverage5). Spatial smoothing of 6 mm was applied to the anatomically-aligned data in surface space. Visual inspection was used to verify proper co-registration of functional data with the T1-weighted anatomical images. Values from vertices located in the medial wall were resampled into the surface data as they are removed by FreeSurfer but are needed for running GPIP. The functional time-series data were normalised by scaling to a mean value of 0 and a standard deviation of 1. The normalised functional time-series data were then used in subsequent steps for GPIP analysis. GPIP performed its two-step iterative process 20 times for each subject resulting in increasingly refined
functional network parcellations with optimal segmentation with respect to the cortical surface. Each participant's final parcellation was plotted and inspected to verify the quality of the parcellation (an example of a single participant's final parcellation is shown in Figure 5). To further assess the quality of the parcellations, homogeneity was calculated as the mean temporal correlation coefficient between all pairs of vertices within each GPIP parcel, where a large value suggests that the vertices included in a particular parcel have similar time-series (i.e., are homogeneous) and therefore correctly assigned to that parcel. The homogeneity value was calculated for the whole brain as a mean value across all parcels for each GPIP iteration to verify that these values increased with each iteration before plateauing prior to the final iterations, suggesting stable and accurate parcellations. Further, cross-correlation matrices including all GPIP parcels were plotted and visually inspected to verify reasonable patterns of whole-brain connectivity in each participant (see section "Resting state functional connectivity matrix" below for specific details on matrix construction).

2.4.4. Resting state functional connectivity (RSFC) matrix

A functional connectivity matrix was created for each participant based on their individualised parcellation. The mean BOLD signal time-series data was extracted from each parcel and pairwise correlations were computed between each parcel pair. The correlation coefficients were then converted to z-scores using Fisher's r-to-z transformation to normalise the distribution of correlation values, resulting in a 200 × 200 functional connectivity matrix for each participant. Each participant's mean Fisher z-transformed RSFC values were extracted for 6 resting state networks of interest as a measure of overall within-network functional connectivity. The networks of interest were the visual network (VN), sensorimotor control network (SMN), dorsal attention network (DAN), SVAN, FPCN, and DMN (Figure 6). Furthermore, the FPCN was

separated into 3 subnetworks based on the FPCN from the Schaefer et al. (2018) 17-networks parcellation. We chose to divide the FPCN in subnetworks because a growing body of research has identified two functional cores of the FPCN: FPCNa which has stronger connectivity with the DMN and FPCNb which showed stronger connectivity with the DAN (Beaty et al., 2021; Dixon et al., 2018; Murphy et al., 2020; Yin et al., 2022). DAN plays a key role in visuospatial perceptual attention and visually-guided reaching actions (Ptak, 2012; Ptak et al., 2017; Thomas Yeo et al., 2011) and has a close relationship with SMN, whilst DMN is independent of sensory input and involved in introspective processes (Konishi et al., 2015). The division was done by matching the FPCN MNI centroid coordinates from the 7 networks atlas to the corresponding FPCN MNI centroid coordinates from the 7 networks atlas to the corresponding FPCN MNI centroid coordinates from the 17 networks atlas (see Figure 7). Although, the third subnetwork (FPCNc: the posterior cingulate and precuneus) did not contain any frontal components, we included it because there is evidence showing altered functional connectivity post-concussion (Leech & Sharp, 2014).

2.5. Statistical Analysis

With exception of cortical thickness and along-tract DTI analyses, all statistical analyses were conducted using R (v 3.4.1), and scatter and box plots were generated using the ggplot2 package. Data were checked for normality by visual inspection of the distributions and by Shapiro-Wilk's test. One participant was excluded from functional connectivity and cortical thickness analyses because no MRI was acquired (n=21), whilst 2 participants were removed from DTI analyses based on the aforementioned reason and analysis pipeline failure (n=20). Descriptive statistics were used to summarise participants' characteristics. A paired t-test was used to detect any significant differences in timing and trajectory composite scores, RT, PLf, and %DR between standard and PC+FR conditions. Model-based analyses involving RPQ and DHI were adjusted for

age, sex, experience with competitive and/or recreational sports, and days since last concussion whilst we adjusted for age, sex, experience with competitive and/or recreational sports, experience with video games, and days since last concussion for all model-based analyses involving visuomotor performance. The adjusted variables were selected based on previous findings that revealed significant predictors of visuomotor performance and PPCS severity (Hurtubise et al., 2016; Sergio et al., 2020; Smeha et al., 2022). Also, model-based measures were reported as effect estimates and 95% confidence intervals (CI).

2.5.1. Relationship between Cortical thickness, RPQ, DHI, and Visuomotor performance

Whole brain and ROI vertex-wise general linear model (GLM) analyses were conducted using FreeSurfer's built-in *mri_glmfit* tool to investigate the associations between cortical thickness, PPCS severity (RPQ-3 & 13), dizziness-related symptoms (DHI: emotional, physical, functional, and total), and visuomotor performance measures (standard and PC+FR conditions). The ROIs were obtained from the Desikan-Killany atlas (Desikan et al., 2006) based on their involvement in the FPCN for visually-guided reaching (Hurtubise et al., 2022): bilateral superior parietal and inferior parietal cortices, precuneus, precentral, superior frontal, rostral middle frontal, caudal middle frontal, and cuneus (Figure 8). All participants' images were resampled to a common space (fsaverage) and smoothed with a 10-mm full-width half-maximum (FWHM) kernel before GLM analyses. A z-distribution Monte Carlo simulation with 5000 iterations using a clusterforming threshold of 2 (p = 0.01) and cluster-wise p < 0.05 were used for multiple comparisons correction (*mri_glmfit-sim*). Bonferroni correction was applied across both hemispheres.

2.5.2. Relationship between RSFC, RPQ, DHI, and Visuomotor performance

Multivariate multiple linear regression models were set up with RSFC as the independent variable and RPQ, DHI, or visuomotor performance measures as dependent variable. The independent variable was the mean within-network functional connectivity of the VN, SMN, DAN, SVAN, FPCN, and DMN as well as the FPCN subnetworks (FPCNa, FPCNb, and FPCNc).

2.5.3. Relationship between DTI measures, RPQ, DHI, and Visuomotor performance

We tested the along-tract FA or MD values for associations with PPCS severity, dizzinessrelated symptoms, and visuomotor performance measures. We fitted a GLM at each point along each tract using FreeSurfer's *mri_glmfit* tool that was adapted for 1D data. A permutation-based 5000 simulations was used for multiple comparisons correction with both the cluster-forming threshold and cluster-wise set at p = 0.05. Bonferroni correction was applied across both hemispheres.

Furthermore, multivariate multiple linear regression analyses were set up with FA or MD values averaged over an entire tract as the independent variable and RPQ, DHI, or visuomotor performance measures as the dependent variable.

All *p*-values obtained from multivariate regression analyses were adjusted for multiple comparisons using the Holm correction method and were considered statistically significant at p < 0.05 at the level of each regression analysis.

Chapter 3: Results

3.1. Participant characteristics

Participant's demographic, PPCS, dizziness, and visuomotor characteristics are displayed in Table 1. There was a higher percentage of females (77.27%), and the mean age was 47.23 years old. The median age was 48.5, with a range of 29 — 63 years old. Of the 22 participants, 5 reported having 1 concussion (22.73%), 3 reported having 2 concussions (13.64%), 8 reported having 3 concussions (36.36%), and 6 reported having 4 or more concussions (27.27%). All participants reported experiencing poor concentration (Table 2). Dizziness, forgetfulness, taking longer to think were the second most reported symptoms (95.45% respectively), whilst double vision was the least reported symptom (50%) (Table 2). During data collection, 8 participants reported full-time employment, 8 reported part-time employment, 1 reported mixed employment (full-time and part-time), 3 reported no employment before and after experiencing concussion, and 2 reported full-time employment prior to concussion and unemployed after concussion. Regarding the mechanisms of concussion, motor vehicle accident had the highest frequency (30.16%), followed by sports (25.39%), and fall and projectile objects (19.05% and 19.05%, respectively). Other mechanisms included fights, bicycle and elevator accidents, and mixed mechanisms (sports and projectile object) which accounted for 6.36% combined.

Behaviourally, there were no significant differences between standard and PC+FR conditions on timing and trajectory composite scores and reaction time (RT) (timing: t = 0.184, p = 0.856; trajectory: t = 0.156, p = 0.878; RT: t = -1.64, p = 0.117). However, the PC+FR condition showed significantly more direction reversal (DR) and longer full path length (PLf) compared to the standard condition as expected (DR: t = 6.40, p < 0.0001; PLf: t = 3.10, p < 0.01, Figure 9).

3.2. Relationship between Cortical thickness, RPQ, DHI, and Visuomotor performance

3.2.1. Cortical thickness, RPQ, and DHI

ROI analysis results are summarised in Table 3 and Figure 10. Higher scores on the functional and emotional DHI domains and total DHI were associated with lower cortical thickness in the left inferior parietal gyrus, respectively (functional: cluster-wise p = 0.048, CI = [0.043,

0.054]; emotional: cluster-wise p = 0.036, CI = [0.031, 0.041]; total: cluster-wise p = 0.045, CI = [0.039, 0.050]), such that as thickness decreased, the severity of dizziness-reported symptoms increased. No associations were observed on whole-brain analysis.

Lastly, we observed no relationships between RPQ-3 & 13 and cortical thickness.

3.2.2. Cortical thickness and Visuomotor performance

In the PC+FR condition, ROI analysis showed negative associations between timing score and left superior parietal gyrus thickness (cluster-wise p = 0.035, CI = [0.029, 0.039]) and between RT and bilateral superior parietal gyrus (left: cluster-wise p = 0.011, CI = [0.008, 0.014]; right: cluster-wise p = 0.033, CI = [0.028, 0.037]) (Table 3) (Figure 11). In all regions, a smaller cortical thickness was associated with a higher visuomotor score, implying worse performance. No associations were observed on whole-brain analysis. Further, we found no associations between standard condition visuomotor performance and cortical thickness.

3.3. Relationship between RSFC, RPQ, DHI, and Visuomotor performance

3.3.1. RSFC, RPQ, and DHI

In RPQ-3, higher mean RSFC within the following networks was associated with higher early physical symptoms cluster of PPCS: VN (B = 7.884, unadjusted p = 0.033, CI = [0.716, 15.053]), SMN (B = 6.922, unadjusted p = 0.018, CI = [1.374, 12.469]), and DAN (B = 9.068, unadjusted p = 0.039, CI = [0.545, 17.591]) (Table 4) (Figure 12a-c). In RPQ-13, higher mean RSFC within the following networks was associated with higher later psychological and cognitive symptoms cluster of PPCS: DAN (B = 41.539, unadjusted p = 0.035, CI = [3.375,79.702]), FPCN (B = 41.924, unadjusted p = 0.024, CI = [6.320, 77.528]), and FPCNb (B = 31.943, unadjusted p = 0.032, CI = [3.247, 60.639]) (Table 4) (Figure 13a-c). These results may suggest that higher RSFC

in the aforementioned networks was mainly associated with overall more severe PPCS regardless of stage of injury. Lastly, we did not observe any associations between mean RSFC withinnetworks and DHI.

3.3.2. RSFC and Visuomotor performance

Shorter PLf in the PC+FR condition, indicating a better performance, was associated with higher mean RSFC within SVAN (B = -108.623, unadjusted p = 0.045, CI = [-214.185, -3.062]) (Table 4) (Figure 14).

3.4. Relationship between DTI, RPQ, DHI, and Visuomotor performance

3.4.1 Along-tract and Entire-tract FA & MD, RPQ, and DHI

Figure 15 shows findings from the statistical analysis of along-tract MD. We found a positive association between RPQ-3 and CC splenium MD (cluster-wise p = 0.019, CI = [0.017, 0.022]) (Table 5) (Figure 15a) and positive associations between DHI functional domain, CC splenium MD, and CC body-premotor MD (CC splenium: cluster-wise p = 0.035, CI = [0.032, 0.039]; CC body-premotor: cluster-wise p = 0.046, CI = [0.043, 0.050]) (Table 5) (Figure 15b-c).

Similarly, results from multivariate multiple regression analysis revealed a positive association between RPQ-3 and the entire right SLF-2 MD (B = 106.750, unadjusted p = 0.002, CI = [44.978, 168.522]) (Table 6) (Figure 16). We found no associations in DHI. In all tracts, higher MD denoted worse PPCS and dizziness-related symptoms.

3.4.2 Along-tract and Entire-tract FA & MD and Visuomotor performance

In the standard condition, the along-tract analysis revealed that the timing score was negatively associated with right ILF FA (cluster-wise p = 0.018, CI = [0.018, 0.021]) (Table 5)

(Figure 17a) and positively associated with left ILF MD (cluster-wise p = 0.009, CI = [0.008, 0.012]) (Table 5) (Figure 17b). Furthermore, the following associations were obtained from the entire-tract analysis: timing score vs right CST MD (B = -98.57, unadjusted p = 0.012, CI = [-171.139, -25.996]) (Table 6) (Figure 18a) and RT vs bilateral SLF-1 MD (left: B = -14389.378, unadjusted p = 0.047, CI = [-28526.332, -252.424]; right: B = , -16148.645, unadjusted p = 0.032, CI = [-30663.252, -1634.039]) (Table 5) (Figure 18b-c).

Finally, in the PC+FR condition, we found a negative association between the timing score and right ILF FA on the along-tract analysis (cluster-wise p = 0.023, CI = [0.019, 0.027]) (Table 5) (Figure 17c). Additionally, the entire-tract analysis revealed various significant associations with multiple tracts: right CST FA with trajectory score (B = -52.428, unadjusted p = 0.005, CI = [-85.311, -19.544]), PLf (B = -839.299, unadjusted p = 0.031, CI = [-1585.132, -93.466]), timing score (B = 44.128, unadjusted p = 0.047, CI = [0.656, 87.599]), and RT (B = 10174.886, unadjusted p = 0.004, CI = [4042.646, 16307.126]) (Table 6) (Figure 19a-d); right CST MD with DR (B = 831.019, unadjusted p = 0.035, CI = [70.589, 1591.449]) (Figure 20a); PLF with left ILF MD (B = -735.327, unadjusted p = 0.029, CI = [-1381.525, -89.129]), left SLF-1 MD (B = -802.793, unadjusted p = 0.043, CI = [-2013.977, -196.902]; right: B = -1565.452, unadjusted p = 0.009, CI = [-2666.056, -464.848]) (Table 6); right SLF-2 MD with RT (B = 13026.401, unadjusted p =0.033, CI = [1276.233, 24776.569]) (Table 6) (Figure 20b).

No associations were observed either between severity of PPCS or dizziness-related symptoms and our upper limb visuomotor performance.

Chapter 4: Discussion

The main goal of this study was to investigate the functional and structural neural underpinnings of visuomotor performance, and to examine the effects of PPCS and vestibular dysfunction on the observed neuroanatomical correlates. The primary findings in this study were: 1) higher RSFC within the VN, SMN, DAN, and FPCN were associated with worse symptoms/outcomes; 2) lower inferior parietal thickness was related to worse vestibular dysfunction; 3) higher RSFC within SVAN was associated with better visuomotor performance, whilst lower superior parietal thickness was associated with worse visuomotor performance on the task requiring two levels of decoupling (PC+CR), and 4) significant associations between white matter integrity of entire tracts and along specific sections of the long-associative, projective, and commissural tracts with PPCS, vestibular dysfunction, and visuomotor performance. The alteration in white matter integrity was mostly observed on tracts implicated in visuomotor control, particular in association with the challenging CMI task.

Disruption in RSFC in working-aged adults with PPCS has previously been reported (So et al., 2023). We found hyperconnectivity in the VN, SMN, DAN was related to the early symptoms of PPCS (headache, dizziness, and nausea), whilst hyperconnectivity in the DAN, FPCN, and FPCNb was associated with later psychological and cognitive symptoms. Previous studies examining functional connectivity in TBI have reported both hyper- and hypoconnectivity (Han et al., 2016; Konstantinou et al., 2019; So et al., 2023; Stevens et al., 2012; Wong et al., 2023). The mixed results might be attributed to factors including sample size, study design, age, sex ratio imbalance, recovery phase, amongst others. Our findings are in accordance with numerous studies that reported higher RSFC amongst these networks (Champagne et al., 2020; Mayer et al., 2011, 2015; Simos et al., 2023; So et al., 2023). Wong et al. (2023) observed higher RSFC within the

DMN and executive central network/FPCN were associated with improved neurocognitive performance in working-aged females with PPCS. Another study reported higher RSFC in multiple networks including the DAN which was associated with improved behavioural symptoms, FPCN (prefrontal cortex), SMN, and SVAN, whilst lower RSFC was observed in the DMN, VN and FPCN (lateral occipital cortex) (Amir et al., 2021). As previously mentioned, the task-positive network is comprised of the FPCN and DAN; networks that are integral to task-related performance (Dixon et al., 2018). Recent studies have identified two distinct subnetworks of the FPCN (FPCNa and FPCNb) which are functionally connected to the DMN and DAN, respectively (Dixon et al., 2018; Murphy et al., 2020). The connectivity between FPCNb and DAN plays a key role in visuospatial perceptual attention and visually-guided reaching actions, and is required for encoding and maintaining task-relevant information in working memory (Dixon et al., 2018; Ptak, 2012; Ptak et al., 2017). Moreover, they are closely linked with the SMN and VN. Therefore, it is possible then, that the observed hyperconnectivity in the current study may indicate neuro-compensatory adaptive efforts, perhaps in form of functional reorganisation near or distal to the site of injury (Rosenthal et al., 2018).

It has been suggested that most functional recovery happens within the first 3 to 6 months post-injury and that stabilisation of hyperconnectivity may be indicative of PPCS recovery (Bharath et al., 2015). In one study, patients with moderate-to-severe TBI showed increased RSFC within the DMN and bilateral FPCN between 6 – 18 months post-injury, changing trajectory in the opposite direction at 18 months post-injury (So et al., 2023). More supporting evidence of neuro-compensation and functional recovery via ancillary brain networks were reported by Czerniak et al. (2015) that demonstrated higher connectivity between DMN and areas within the SVAN and FPCN which correlated with better performance on measures of inhibition and attention. Bharath

et al. (2015) also showed higher DMN connectivity spreading to other networks, including SVAN, VN, FPCN, and DAN at 3 months post-injury. At 6 months post-injury, these patients had neurocognitive test scores and functional connectivity that were comparable with healthy controls. Taken together, these studies suggest that the higher RSFC could reflect higher metabolic cost during functional reorganisation that may have occurred in our study. Of note, it is important to acknowledge the lack of premorbid RSFC as a limitation to our analysis. This is because our participants may differ extensively on their premorbid RFSC at the group or individual level such that some participants may have lower premorbid RSFC. However, by comparing our results from those obtained from "healthy normal controls" (Bharath et al., 2015; So et al., 2023), our findings suggest that neuro-compensatory efforts may result in within networks' hyperconnectivity as the brain tries to recover from the neuroinflammatory response and PPCS resulting from concussion. Moreover, it is worth a mention that the lack of observable PPCS and normal neurocognitive test scores does not fully guarantee complete neural recovery. For example, multiple studies have reported no notable difference in visuomotor transformation tasks (Hurtubise et al., 2020), visual tracking task (Astafiev et al., 2015), and neurocognitive performance on working memory (Westfall et al., 2015) between participants with PPCS and healthy controls. However, the aforementioned studies noted disruption in functional and/or structural integrity in the form of lower white matter integrity in several tracts (Hurtubise et al., 2020), abnormal BOLD activity along the SLF (Astafiev et al., 2015), and higher connectivity within the FPCN and recruitment of additional brain networks (Westfall et al., 2015) in participants with PPCS. These alterations may reflect the utilisation of extra cognitive resources to compensate for any deficits, resulting in normal-appearing behavioural function. This was supported by the higher RSFC within the SVAN and shorter full path length in the PC+FR condition observed in our study. Thus, it may suggest that the neural movement control networks may be permanently changed from what is typical following concussion in order to perform pre-injury behaviour to the same level of proficiency.

The SVAN has functional key nodes anchored in the anterior insular, anterior cingulate, and ventrolateral prefrontal cortices and is integral for several cognitive functions such as, initiating, maintaining, and adjusting of attention (Dosenbach et al., 2006). Moreover, it has been shown to modulate the transition between DMN and FPCN activity, especially in anticipation of a task (Menon & Uddin, 2010). Sridharan et al. (2008) showed that the anterior insula cortex played a critical and causal role in the switch between the DMN and FPCN, demonstrated by the significant deactivation of the former, and the activation of both the latter and the SVAN during a series of an attention-task-based fMRI and rsfMRI analyses. These findings were confirmed by another study that observed greater SVAN-FPCN connectivity than SVAN-DMN during a visuospatial working memory task, which included the visual network (Santangelo & Bordier, 2019). Together, these studies emphasis the role of SVAN, which might also collectively with the FPCN, downregulate the DMN. The DMN was shown to be involved in internally-directed cognition, such as mentalisation (Spreng et al., 2009), autobiographic memory (Andrews-Hanna, Saxe, et al., 2014), and emotional processing (Andrews-Hanna, Smallwood, et al., 2014). Given the role of the SVAN in switching between networks (Menon & Uddin, 2010), and the FPCN's role in externally-directed cognition (Dixon et al., 2018), our observed SVAN hyperconnectivity and shorter full path in the PC+FR condition may reflect a predisposition to recruiting additional cognitive resources when engaging in task(s) with increasing complexity in order to achieve a successful performance. Our results were further corroborated by the lack of significant relationship between the DMN and both visuomotor conditions, thus suggesting greater SVAN-FPCN connectivity and the involvement of SVAN in complex visuospatial attention and visuomotor task (Benassi et al., 2021; Diwakar et al., 2015; Ohashi et al., 2018; Vossel et al., 2014), particularly in rule-based CMI. Taken together, our RSFC findings suggest that the networks implicated in the integration of sensorimotor and cognitive-motor systems, particularly during the decoupling of visuomotor control, are especially susceptible to concussion.

White and grey matter abnormalities have been implicated in PPCS (Hurtubise et al., 2022; Multani et al., 2016). Although the underlying pathophysiology of concussion and PPCS is not fully understood, multiple studies have suggested that it might be related to diffused axonal and cytoskeletal injury from the biomechanical impact on the skull (Chappell et al., 2006; Cubon et al., 2011; Rabinowitz et al., 2014). Subsequent axonal and cytoskeletal changes disrupt neuronal membrane permeability, resulting in numerous neurochemical and neurometabolic cascades, which puts mounting stress on long associative, projecting, and connecting white matter tracts (Gumus et al., 2021; McCrory et al., 2017; Rabinowitz et al., 2014). These white matter tract alterations have also been associated with post-concussion decreases in cortical volume and thickness due to axonal damage (Ding et al., 2008; Warner et al., 2010). In keeping with these findings, we observed several associations between measures of white and grey matter integrity with PPCS and visuomotor performance. Specifically, lower cortical thickness in the inferior parietal and superior parietal cortices were associated with worse vestibular dysfunction and poor performance on the PC+FR condition, respectively. Our findings are consistent with Zhe et al. (2021) who reported lower cortical thickness in the superior parietal lobule and lower sulci depth in the inferior and superior parietal lobules in patients with vestibular migraine. Similarly, another study from our laboratory demonstrated lower cortical thickness in the inferior and superior parietal lobules were associated with poor performance in various CMI-based tasks in participants with PPCS (Hurtubise et al., 2022). As part of the multisensory vestibular cortical network (Dieterich & Brandt, 2008), the inferior parietal cortex is involved in vestibular processing and responsible for sustained attention when engaging in ongoing tasks and responding to salient stimuli in space (Singh-Curry & Husain, 2009). Also, the superior parietal cortex is involved in sensorimotor integration and responsible for spatial orientation using proprioceptive cues during reaching movements (Sabes, 2000). Thus, given the contribution of these posterior parietal cortices in sensorimotor transformations between visual inputs and motor outputs and spatial awareness, it is unsurprising that structural changes can result in poor hand-eye coordination and balance, as demonstrated in the current study.

Several white matter tracts were associated with worse PPCS and vestibular dysfunction. Particularly, these white matter abnormalities were observed amongst the most commonly documented tracts differentiating participants with PPCS from healthy controls, and their relationship with sensorimotor integration (SLF, CST, ILF, and CC) (Gumus et al., 2021; Hurtubise et al., 2020). We found that higher MD along the CC splenium and in the whole SLF-2 were associated with worse PPCS, whilst higher MD along the CC splenium and premotor were associated with higher vestibular dysfunction. Our findings reinforce results from previous studies with different sample sizes and cohorts that have reported diffused white-matter damage linked to persistent symptoms after concussion (Gumus et al., 2022; Leh et al., 2017; Multani et al., 2016; Murdaugh et al., 2018; Mustafi et al., 2022; Rabinowitz et al., 2014; Taghdiri et al., 2018). Calzolari et al. (2021) showed lower FA and higher MD in the right ILF was associated with impaired balance in TBI patients with vestibular agnosia, contrary to our vestibular findings. However, another study from the same group demonstrated that vestibular agnosia was associated with higher RSFC between the SLF and the posterior corona radiata tracts (Hadi et al., 2022), supporting our findings. Similarly, Messé et al. (2011, 2012) and Gumus et al. (2022) reported either higher MD or lower FA across the whole brain in patients with severe PPCS with poor

outcome compared to mild PPCS with good outcome. The aforementioned white matter abnormalities were especially observed in the long associated fasciculi (SLF and ILF) and bodysplenium junction of the CC which is the thickest part of the CC, thus susceptible to brain injury (Fitsiori et al., 2011; Shiramizu et al., 2008). The SLF is an associative multi-sectional tract functionally connecting the frontoparietal control network and the posterior parietal lobule anatomically, and the integrity of the SLF-2 is related to visuospatial and visuomotor control processes (Janelle et al., 2022; Nakajima et al., 2020), whereas the ILF, CC splenium, and CCbody premotor serve as connections between the temporo-occipital, parieto-occipital, and motor areas, respectively (Maffei et al., 2021; Park et al., 2008). Together, these tracts are critical for various top-down cognitive and vestibular sensorimotor processes that are vulnerable to the shearing and tearing forces due to concussion (Gumus et al., 2021; Narayana, 2017; Ubukata et al., 2016). Of note, given the microstructural changes that could occur within specific sections of the tract, it is imperative to investigate diffusion differences along each tract. This is because analysing the whole tract may ignore the potential rich neuroanatomical variation in diffusion measures along each tract thereby, flattening subtle focal white matter alterations especially in long-association, projection, and commissural tracts. This was supported by Mustafi et al. (2022) who showed that higher MD along the forceps minor, superior and posterior corona radiata, and cingulum tracts was associated with persistent symptoms after sport-related concussion. Similar results were obtained by Veeramuthu et al. (2015) showing that the associations between severe white matter abnormalities and neurocognitive deficits in acute and chronic concussion phases were along the long-association (SLF) and commissural (CC splenium and body) tracts. These findings suggest that the biophysical properties of long and commissural fibre tracts may increase their susceptibility to concussion and PPCS. Possible explanations for the increased vulnerability of these fibres includes the possibility that the myelin sheaths covering the axons in these fibres are stiffer, making them more vulnerable to damage from concussion (Laksari et al., 2012; D. H. Smith et al., 1999). In addition, their deep and central location (Bayly et al., 2005; Viano et al., 2005), and/or their relative long length and high membrane-to-cytoplasmic ratio (Korn et al., 2005; McKee & Robinson, 2014) might intensify their potential to be damaged by the biomechanical force from concussion. Notwithstanding the heterogeneity in participants and injury mechanisms, our results are consistent with previous works suggesting that investigating the microstructural diffusion changes along white matter tracts (i.e., rather than averaged over an entire tract) may improve the sensitivity of DTI in detecting the effects of concussion and PPCS on white matter structural integrity.

In the present study we observed an overall association between FA, MD, and visuomotor performance across both conditions. Our finding supports prior results from our group and others that implicates healthy white matter integrity for successful CMI task performance (Gorbet & Sergio, 2016; Hawkins et al., 2015; Hurtubise et al., 2020; Rogojin et al., 2023). The whole and along-tract analyses between visuomotor performance scores and DTI measures in several long-coursing and projection tracts (ILF, SLF-1 & 2, and CST; see Tables 5 & 6) showed that alterations in white matter integrity (higher and/or lower FA and MD) were associated with higher movement errors, lower movement accuracy, and slowed psychomotor response. Conflicting results from studies examining concussion-related white matter integrity changes may arise from multiple factors like differences in imaging and methodology protocols, heterogeneity in injury severity and participants, variability in injury mechanism, and injury phase, with some reporting inconsistent changes in FA and MD directions. For instance, some studies have reported lower FA and higher MD during the acute and chronic phases (Kraus et al., 2007; Nakayama, 2006; Niogi et al., 2008; Veeramuthu et al., 2015), whilst others have reported higher FA and lower MD in both phases

(Bazarian et al., 2007; Henry et al., 2011; Veeramuthu et al., 2015; Wilde et al., 2012). Furthermore in concussion, vasogenic oedema is characterised by reduced FA and higher MD because of the release of intravascular proteins into brain parenchyma and the extracellular accumulation of fluid resulting from blood-brain-barrier disruption and may be reversible, whilst cytotoxic oedema is related to higher FA and lower MD due to the abnormal accumulation of intracellular fluid resulting in cell swelling and may be irreversible (Michinaga & Koyama, 2015). These pathogenic oedematous processes coupled with demyelination could explain the visuomotor impairment observed in the current study months or even years post initial injury. Consistent with our results, Hurtubise et al. (2020) found worse performance on the non-standard (PC+FR) condition indicated by lower trajectory composite score was related to lower FA in the ILF, SLF, and CST despite the lack of associations between PPCS, standard visuomotor condition, and white matter MD. Similarly, two studies reported lower FA and higher MD, AD, and RD in ILF, SLF, cingulum, CST, CC, and forceps tracts predicted impaired performance in the PC+FR condition in APOEe4 carriers (Hawkins et al., 2015; Rogojin et al., 2023). As previously mentioned, these white matter tracts pass through the task-positive networks, connecting regions such as the posterior parietal lobule that are involved in visuomotor processing. Furthermore, our CMI condition involved two levels of decoupling that required both implicit sensorimotor recalibration and the explicit strategic control. Such task complexity putatively requires intact large-scale functional and structural network integrity. Hence, disruption of the normal homeostatic neural state and abnormal changes in structural components, combined with the already taxed metabolic capacity required for concussion recovery, may place an energetic strain on the control system resulting in poor motor performance (Bigler, 2013; Hillary & Grafman, 2017).

4.1. Limitations, Future directions, and Strengths

Our study has both limitations and strengths. Firstly, since this was not a longitudinal study, we could not address the causal relationships between RSFC, abnormal white matter integrity, lower cortical thickness, and impaired visuomotor performance in working-aged adults with PPCS. Future studies should investigate the long-term interactive effects of functional and structural integrity on developing PPCS and visuomotor deficits in working-aged adults. Secondly, the absence of informant verified self-reported PPCS and number of concussions may have introduced bias. Thirdly, the lack of a control group meant that we could not compare the performance on visuomotor tasks between participants with PPCS and healthy controls and we could not determine the specific neuroanatomical correlates of PPCS. Since, neuroimaging studies in healthy controls are crucial in identifying the functional and structural neural underpinnings of visuomotor performance, their absence in our study might impact the generalisation of our findings. Moreover, the interpretation and generalisability of our findings is limited by our small sample size. Although we tried to adjust for many covariates including factors such as hormones, pharmacological therapy, socioeconomic status, and years of education, a small sample size may have impacted our results. Therefore, more studies with healthy controls and a larger sample size are required to confirm our results and further investigate the effects of these variables on PPCS, brain function and structure, and visuomotor performance in working-aged adults. Our sample contained proportionately more females, which was consistent and contrary to some TBI studies (Biegon, 2021; Shafi et al., 2020; Smeha et al., 2022; So et al., 2023). As a result, we were unable to explore any sex differences in PPCS and its potential associations with functional and structural integrity and visuomotor performance. Potential sex differences may result from multiple factors including sex hormones, PPCS profiles, length of recovery, neuroanatomy and function, neck muscle strength, and head/neck ratios (Chaychi et al., 2022; McGlade et al., 2015; Shafi et al., 2020; Tiernery et al., 2005; Varriano et al., 2018). Hence, future studies shall expand on previous research that have observed sex differences in visuomotor performance in working-aged with PPCS (Smeha et al., 2022) by incorporating the aforementioned factors that may explain possible mechanisms underlying sex differences in concussion.

A main strength of our study was the inclusion of working-aged adults with various concussion mechanisms. Prior studies investigating the impact of concussion and PPCS on brain health and quality of life have typically examined elite athletes thereby, excluding participants from the community with various exercise levels and severity of PPCS and concussion. The inclusion of these participants in our study strengthens the generalisability of our findings beyond sport-related concussion and elite athletes. An additional strength was the implementation of along-tract DTI profile analysis to examine the relationships between functional and structural integrity and visuomotor performance in participants with PPCS. This more fine-grained analysis approach is imperative because it provides an opportunity to determine any focal microstructural changes along each white matter tract that may be missed when averaging values over the whole tract.

4.2. Conclusions

Our findings suggest that visuomotor tasks may have the potential for detecting neural changes related to functional and structural integrity in individuals with PPCS. We showed that persistent symptoms after concussion are associated with hyperconnectivity within several functional networks including the visual, frontoparietal control, dorsal attention, and sensorimotor networks. This hyperconnectivity may reflect neuro-compensatory mechanisms of recovery. Specifically, we observed hyperconnectivity within the salience ventral attention network was associated with better performance on a challenging visuomotor task that required cognitive-motor

integration. Additionally, overall visuomotor deficits and more severe persistent symptoms with vestibular dysfunction were associated with lower cortical thickness in the posterior parietal lobule and lower white matter integrity, especially along the long-association, projection, and commissural tracts. Future longitudinal research may benefit from investigating possible mechanisms underlying the neuro-compensatory efforts in brain recovery and how to extend the observed mechanisms, especially in the presence of diminishing structural integrity. These interventions may help in managing persistent symptoms after concussion that can contribute to impaired visuomotor performance, particularly on activities that require complex integration of sensorimotor and cognitive-motor systems.

References

- American Psychiatric Association. (2022). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. (5th ed., text rev.). <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425787</u>
- Amir, J., Nair, J. K. R., Del Carpio-O'Donovan, R., Ptito, A., Chen, J., Chankowsky, J., Tinawi, S., Lunkova, E., & Saluja, R. S. (2021). Atypical resting state functional connectivity in mild traumatic brain injury. Brain and Behavior, 11(8). https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.2261
- Andersson, J. L. R., Skare, S., & Ashburner, J. (2003). How to correct susceptibility distortions in spin-echo echo-planar images: application to diffusion tensor imaging. NeuroImage, 20(2), 870–888. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00336-7
- Andersson, J. L. R., & Sotiropoulos, S. N. (2016). An integrated approach to correction for offresonance effects and subject movement in diffusion MR imaging. NeuroImage, 125, 1063– 1078. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.10.019
- Andrews-Hanna, J. R., Saxe, R., & Yarkoni, T. (2014). Contributions of episodic retrieval and mentalizing to autobiographical thought: Evidence from functional neuroimaging, restingstate connectivity, and fMRI meta-analyses. NeuroImage, 91, 324–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.01.032
- Andrews-Hanna, J. R., Smallwood, J., & Spreng, R. N. (2014). The default network and selfgenerated thought: component processes, dynamic control, and clinical relevance. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1316(1), 29–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12360
- Astafiev, S. V., Shulman, G. L., Metcalf, N. V., Rengachary, J., MacDonald, C. L., Harrington, D. L., Maruta, J., Shimony, J. S., Ghajar, J., Diwakar, M., Huang, M.-X., Lee, R. R., & Corbetta, M. (2015). Abnormal White Matter Blood-Oxygen-Level–Dependent Signals in Chronic Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. Journal of Neurotrauma, 32(16), 1254–1271. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2014.3547
- Avants, B., Epstein, C., Grossman, M., & Gee, J. (2008). Symmetric diffeomorphic image registration with cross-correlation: Evaluating automated labeling of elderly and neurodegenerative brain. Medical Image Analysis, 12(1), 26–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.media.2007.06.004
- Barkhoudarian, G., Hovda, D. A., & Giza, C. C. (2011). The Molecular Pathophysiology of Concussive Brain Injury. Clinics in Sports Medicine, 30(1), 33–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csm.2010.09.001
- Bayly, P. V., Cohen, T. S., Leister, E. P., Ajo, D., Leuthardt, E. C., & Genin, G. M. (2005). Deformation of the Human Brain Induced by Mild Acceleration. Journal of Neurotrauma, 22(8), 845–856. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2005.22.845
- Bazarian, J. J., Zhong, J., Blyth, B., Zhu, T., Kavcic, V., & Peterson, D. (2007). Diffusion Tensor Imaging Detects Clinically Important Axonal Damage after Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Pilot Study. Journal of Neurotrauma, 24(9), 1447–1459. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2007.0241

Beaty, R. E., Cortes, R. A., Zeitlen, D. C., Weinberger, A. B., & Green, A. E. (2021). Functional

Realignment of Frontoparietal Subnetworks during Divergent Creative Thinking. Cerebral Cortex. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhab100

- Behrens, T. E. J., Berg, H. J., Jbabdi, S., Rushworth, M. F. S., & Woolrich, M. W. (2007). Probabilistic diffusion tractography with multiple fibre orientations: What can we gain? NeuroImage, 34(1), 144–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.09.018
- Behrens, T. E. J., Johansen-Berg, H., Woolrich, M. W., Smith, S. M., Wheeler-Kingshott, C. A. M., Boulby, P. A., Barker, G. J., Sillery, E. L., Sheehan, K., Ciccarelli, O., Thompson, A. J., Brady, J. M., & Matthews, P. M. (2003). Non-invasive mapping of connections between human thalamus and cortex using diffusion imaging. Nature Neuroscience, 6(7), 750–757. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1075
- Benassi, M., Frattini, D., Garofalo, S., Bolzani, R., & Pansell, T. (2021). Visuo-motor integration, vision perception and attention in mTBI patients. Preliminary findings. PLOS ONE, 16(4), e0250598. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0250598
- Bharath, R. D., Munivenkatappa, A., Gohel, S., Panda, R., Saini, J., Rajeswaran, J., Shukla, D., Bhagavatula, I. D., & Biswal, B. B. (2015). Recovery of resting brain connectivity ensuing mild traumatic brain injury. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2015.00513
- Biegon, A. (2021). Considering Biological Sex in Traumatic Brain Injury. Frontiers in Neurology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2021.576366
- Bigler, E. D. (2013). Neuroinflammation and the dynamic lesion in traumatic brain injury. Brain, 136(1), 9–11. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aws342
- Bloch, F., Thibaud, M., Dugué, B., Brèque, C., Rigaud, A., & Kemoun, G. (2010). Episodes of falling among elderly people: a systematic review and meta-analysis of social and demographic pre-disposing characteristics. Clinics, 65(9), 895–903. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1807-59322010000900013
- Bock, O. (2005). Components of sensorimotor adaptation in young and elderly subjects. Experimental Brain Research, 160(2), 259–263. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-004-2133-5
- Brandes-Aitken, A., Anguera, J. A., Chang, Y.-S., Demopoulos, C., Owen, J. P., Gazzaley, A., Mukherjee, P., & Marco, E. J. (2019). White Matter Microstructure Associations of Cognitive and Visuomotor Control in Children: A Sensory Processing Perspective. Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2018.00065
- Broglio, S.P., McAllister, T., & McCrea, M.A. (2022). The Natural History of Sport-Related Concussion in Collegiate Athletes: Findings from the NCAA-DoD CARE Consortium. Sports Med, 52, 403–415. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-021-01541-7
- Brook, E. M., Luo, X., Curry, E. J., & Matzkin, E. G. (2016). A heads up on concussions: are there sex-related differences? The Physician and Sportsmedicine, 44(1), 20–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913847.2016.1142834
- Broshek, D. K., Kaushik, T., Freeman, J. R., Erlanger, D., Webbe, F., & Barth, J. T. (2005). Sex differences in outcome following sports-related concussion. Journal of Neurosurgery, 102(5), 856–863. https://doi.org/10.3171/jns.2005.102.5.0856

- Brown, D. A., Elsass, J. A., Miller, A. J., Reed, L. E., & Reneker, J. C. (2015). Differences in Symptom Reporting Between Males and Females at Baseline and After a Sports-Related Concussion: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Sports Medicine, 45(7), 1027–1040. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-015-0335-6
- Buckner, R. L., Krienen, F. M., & Yeo, B. T. T. (2013). Opportunities and limitations of intrinsic functional connectivity MRI. Nature Neuroscience, 16(7), 832–837. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3423
- Burrowes, S. A. B., Rhodes, C. S., Meeker, T. J., Greenspan, J. D., Gullapalli, R. P., & Seminowicz, D. A. (2020). Decreased grey matter volume in mTBI patients with posttraumatic headache compared to headache-free mTBI patients and healthy controls: a longitudinal MRI study. Brain Imaging and Behavior, 14(5), 1651–1659. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-019-00095-7
- Burke, S. N., & Barnes, C. A. (2006). Neural plasticity in the ageing brain. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 7(1), 30–40. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1809
- Calzolari, E., Chepisheva, M., Smith, R. M., Mahmud, M., Hellyer, P. J., Tahtis, V., Arshad, Q., Jolly, A., Wilson, M., Rust, H., Sharp, D. J., & Seemungal, B. M. (2021). Vestibular agnosia in traumatic brain injury and its link to imbalance. Brain : A Journal of Neurology, 144(1), 128–143. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awaa386
- Champagne, A. A., Coverdale, N. S., Ross, A., Chen, Y., Murray, C. I., Dubowitz, D., & Cook, D. J. (2020). Multi-modal normalization of resting-state using local physiology reduces changes in functional connectivity patterns observed in mTBI patients. NeuroImage. Clinical, 26, 102204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2020.102204
- Chappell, M. H., Ulu??, A. M., Zhang, L., Heitger, M. H., Jordan, B. D., Zimmerman, R. D., & Watts, R. (2006). Distribution of microstructural damage in the brains of professional boxers: A diffusion MRI study. Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging, 24(3), 537–542. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.20656
- Chaychi, S., Valera, E., & Tartaglia, M. C. (2022). Sex and gender differences in mild traumatic brain injury/concussion (pp. 349–375). https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2022.07.004
- Cheng, M.-H., & Chang, S.-F. (2017). Frailty as a Risk Factor for Falls Among Community Dwelling People: Evidence From a Meta-Analysis. Journal of Nursing Scholarship, 49(5), 529–536. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12322
- Chittrakul, J., Siviroj, P., Sungkarat, S., & Sapbamrer, R. (2020). Physical Frailty and Fall Risk in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: A Cross-Sectional Study. Journal of Aging Research, 2020, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/3964973
- Choe, M. C. (2016). The Pathophysiology of Concussion. Current Pain and Headache Reports, 20(6), 42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-016-0573-9
- Chong, M., Bhushan, C., Joshi, A. A., Choi, S., Haldar, J. P., Shattuck, D. W., Spreng, R. N., & Leahy, R. M. (2017). Individual parcellation of resting fMRI with a group functional connectivity prior. NeuroImage, 156, 87–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.04.054

- Churchill, N. W., Hutchison, M. G., Graham, S. J., & Schweizer, T. A. (2021). Concussion Risk and Resilience: Relationships with Pre-Injury Salience Network Connectivity. Journal of Neurotrauma, 38(22), 3097–3106. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2021.0123
- Clower, D. M., & Boussaoud, D. (2000). Selective Use of Perceptual Recalibration Versus Visuomotor Skill Acquisition. Journal of Neurophysiology, 84(5), 2703–2708. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2000.84.5.2703
- Concha, L., Gross, D. W., Wheatley, B. M., & Beaulieu, C. (2006). Diffusion tensor imaging of time-dependent axonal and myelin degradation after corpus callosotomy in epilepsy patients. NeuroImage, 32(3), 1090–1099. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.04.187
- Covassin, T., Swanik, C. B., & Sachs, M. L. (2003). Sex Differences and the Incidence of Concussions Among Collegiate Athletes. Journal of Athletic Training, 38(3), 238–244. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14608434
- Cox, R. W. (1996). AFNI: Software for Analysis and Visualization of Functional Magnetic Resonance Neuroimages. Computers and Biomedical Research, 29(3), 162–173. https://doi.org/10.1006/cbmr.1996.0014
- Cubon, V. A., Putukian, M., Boyer, C., & Dettwiler, A. (2011). A Diffusion Tensor Imaging Study on the White Matter Skeleton in Individuals with Sports-Related Concussion. Journal of Neurotrauma, 28(2), 189–201. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2010.1430
- Czerniak, S. M., Sikoglu, E. M., Liso Navarro, A. A., McCafferty, J., Eisenstock, J., Stevenson, J. H., King, J. A., & Moore, C. M. (2015). A resting state functional magnetic resonance imaging study of concussion in collegiate athletes. Brain Imaging and Behavior, 9(2), 323– 332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-014-9312-1
- Desikan, R. S., Ségonne, F., Fischl, B., Quinn, B. T., Dickerson, B. C., Blacker, D., Buckner, R. L., Dale, A. M., Maguire, R. P., Hyman, B. T., Albert, M. S., & Killiany, R. J. (2006). An automated labeling system for subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. NeuroImage, 31(3), 968–980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.01.021
- Dieterich, M., & Brandt, T. (2008). Functional brain imaging of peripheral and central vestibular disorders. Brain, 131(10), 2538–2552. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn042
- Dimou, S., & Lagopoulos, J. (2014). Toward Objective Markers of Concussion in Sport: A Review of White Matter and Neurometabolic Changes in the Brain after Sports-Related Concussion. Journal of Neurotrauma, 31(5), 413–424. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2013.3050
- Ding, K., de la Plata, C. M., Wang, J. Y., Mumphrey, M., Moore, C., Harper, C., Madden, C. J., McColl, R., Whittemore, A., Devous, M. D., & Diaz-Arrastia, R. (2008). Cerebral Atrophy after Traumatic White Matter Injury: Correlation with Acute Neuroimaging and Outcome. Journal of Neurotrauma, 25(12), 1433–1440. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2008.0683
- Diwakar, M., Harrington, D. L., Maruta, J., Ghajar, J., El-Gabalawy, F., Muzzatti, L., Corbetta, M., Huang, M.-X., & Lee, R. R. (2015). Filling in the gaps: Anticipatory control of eye movements in chronic mild traumatic brain injury. NeuroImage: Clinical, 8, 210–223.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2015.04.011

- Dixon, M. L., De La Vega, A., Mills, C., Andrews-Hanna, J., Spreng, R. N., Cole, M. W., & Christoff, K. (2018). Heterogeneity within the frontoparietal control network and its relationship to the default and dorsal attention networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 115(7). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1715766115
- Dosenbach, N. U. F., Visscher, K. M., Palmer, E. D., Miezin, F. M., Wenger, K. K., Kang, H. C., Burgund, E. D., Grimes, A. L., Schlaggar, B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2006). A Core System for the Implementation of Task Sets. Neuron, 50(5), 799–812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.04.031
- Eyres, S., Carey, A., Gilworth, G., Neumann, V., & Tennant, A. (2005). Construct validity and reliability of the Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire. Clinical Rehabilitation, 19(8), 878–887. https://doi.org/10.1191/0269215505cr905oa
- Farace, E., & Alves, W. M. (2000). Do women fare worse: a metaanalysis of gender differences in traumatic brain injury outcome. Journal of Neurosurgery, 93(4), 539–545. https://doi.org/10.3171/jns.2000.93.4.0539
- Farbota, K. D., Bendlin, B. B., Alexander, A. L., Rowley, H. A., Dempsey, R. J., & Johnson, S. C. (2012). Longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging and neuropsychological correlates in traumatic brain injury patients. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2012.00160
- Fhon, J. R. S., Rodrigues, R. A. P., Neira, W. F., Huayta, V. M. R., & Robazzi, M. L. do C. C. (2016). Fall and its association with the frailty syndrome in the elderly: systematic review with meta-analysis. Revista Da Escola de Enfermagem Da USP, 50(6), 1005–1013. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0080-623420160000700018
- Field, M., Collins, M. W., Lovell, M. R., & Maroon, J. (2003). Does age play a role in recovery from sports-related concussion? A comparison of high school and collegiate athletes. The Journal of Pediatrics, 142(5), 546–553. https://doi.org/10.1067/mpd.2003.190
- Fino, P. C., Peterka, R. J., Hullar, T. E., Murchison, C., Horak, F. B., Chesnutt, J. C., & King, L. A. (2017). Assessment and rehabilitation of central sensory impairments for balance in mTBI using auditory biofeedback: a randomized clinical trial. BMC Neurology, 17(1), 41. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12883-017-0812-7
- Fischl, B. (2012). FreeSurfer. NeuroImage, 62(2), 774–781. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.01.021
- Fitsiori, A., Nguyen, D., Karentzos, A., Delavelle, J., & Vargas, M. I. (2011). The corpus callosum: white matter or terra incognita. The British Journal of Radiology, 84(997), 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1259/bjr/21946513
- Fox, M. D., Snyder, A. Z., Vincent, J. L., Corbetta, M., Van Essen, D. C., & Raichle, M. E. (2005). The human brain is intrinsically organized into dynamic, anticorrelated functional networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 102(27), 9673–9678. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0504136102
- Giza, C. C., & Hovda, D. A. (2014). The New Neurometabolic Cascade of Concussion.

Neurosurgery, 75(Supplement 4), S24–S33. https://doi.org/10.1227/NEU.000000000000505

- Gorbet, D. J., Mader, L. B., & Richard Staines, W. (2010). Sex-related differences in the hemispheric laterality of slow cortical potentials during the preparation of visually guided movements. Experimental Brain Research, 202(3), 633–646. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-010-2170-1
- Gorbet, D. J., & Sergio, L. E. (2007). Preliminary sex differences in human cortical BOLD fMRI activity during the preparation of increasingly complex visually guided movements. European Journal of Neuroscience, 25(4), 1228–1239. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05358.x
- Gorbet, D. J., & Sergio, L. E. (2009). The behavioural consequences of dissociating the spatial directions of eye and arm movements. Brain Research, 1284, 77–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2009.05.057
- Gorbet, D. J., & Sergio, L. E. (2016). Don't watch where you're going: The neural correlates of decoupling eye and arm movements. Behavioural Brain Research, 298, 229–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.11.012
- Gorbet, D. J., & Sergio, L. E. (2018). Move faster, think later: Women who play action video games have quicker visually-guided responses with later onset visuomotor-related brain activity. PLOS ONE, 13(1), e0189110. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189110
- Gorbet, D. J., & Staines, W. R. (2011). Inhibition of contralateral premotor cortex delays visually guided reaching movements in men but not in women. Experimental Brain Research, 212(2), 315–325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-011-2731-y
- Goswami, R., Dufort, P., Tartaglia, M. C., Green, R. E., Crawley, A., Tator, C. H., Wennberg, R., Mikulis, D. J., Keightley, M., & Davis, K. D. (2016). Frontotemporal correlates of impulsivity and machine learning in retired professional athletes with a history of multiple concussions. Brain Structure and Function, 221(4), 1911–1925. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-015-1012-0
- Granek, J. A., Gorbet, D. J., & Sergio, L. E. (2010). Extensive video-game experience alters cortical networks for complex visuomotor transformations. Cortex, 46(9), 1165–1177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2009.10.009
- Granek, J. A., & Sergio, L. E. (2015). Evidence for distinct brain networks in the control of rulebased motor behavior. Journal of Neurophysiology, 114(2), 1298–1309. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00233.2014
- Greve, D. N., & Fischl, B. (2009). Accurate and robust brain image alignment using boundarybased registration. NeuroImage, 48(1), 63–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.06.060
- Gumus, M., Mack, M. L., Green, R., Khodadadi, M., Wennberg, R. A., Crawley, A., Colella, B., Tarazi, A., Mikulis, D., Tator, C. H., & Tartaglia, M. C. (2022). Brain Connectivity Changes in Postconcussion Syndrome as the Neural Substrate of a Heterogeneous Syndrome. Brain Connectivity, 12(8), 711–724. https://doi.org/10.1089/brain.2021.0127

- Gumus, M., Santos, A., & Tartaglia, M. C. (2021). Diffusion and functional MRI findings and their relationship to behaviour in postconcussion syndrome: a scoping review. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 92(12), 1259–1270. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2021-326604
- Hadi, Z., Mahmud, M., Pondeca, Y., Calzolari, E., Chepisheva, M., Smith, R. M., Rust, H. M., Sharp, D. J., & Seemungal, B. M. (2022). The human brain networks mediating the vestibular sensation of self-motion. Journal of the Neurological Sciences, 443, 120458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2022.120458
- Han, K., Chapman, S. B., & Krawczyk, D. C. (2016). Disrupted Intrinsic Connectivity among Default, Dorsal Attention, and Frontoparietal Control Networks in Individuals with Chronic Traumatic Brain Injury. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 22(2), 263–279. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617715001393
- Hawkins, K. M., Goyal, A. I., & Sergio, L. E. (2015). Diffusion Tensor Imaging Correlates of Cognitive-Motor Decline in Normal Aging and Increased Alzheimer's Disease Risk. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 44(3), 867–878. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-142079
- Hayes, J. P., Bigler, E. D., & Verfaellie, M. (2016). Traumatic Brain Injury as a Disorder of Brain Connectivity. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 22(2), 120– 137. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617715000740
- Henry, L. C., Tremblay, J., Tremblay, S., Lee, A., Brun, C., Lepore, N., Theoret, H., Ellemberg, D., & Lassonde, M. (2011). Acute and Chronic Changes in Diffusivity Measures after Sports Concussion. Journal of Neurotrauma, 28(10), 2049–2059. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2011.1836
- Hillary, F. G., & Grafman, J. H. (2017). Injured Brains and Adaptive Networks: The Benefits and Costs of Hyperconnectivity. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 21(5), 385–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2017.03.003
- Hurtubise, J., Gorbet, D., Hamandi, Y., Macpherson, A., & Sergio, L. (2016). The effect of concussion history on cognitive-motor integration in elite hockey players. Concussion, 1(3), CNC17. https://doi.org/10.2217/cnc-2016-0006
- Hurtubise, J. M., Gorbet, D. J., Hynes, L. M., Macpherson, A. K., & Sergio, L. E. (2020). White Matter Integrity and Its Relationship to Cognitive-Motor Integration in Females with and without Post-Concussion Syndrome. Journal of Neurotrauma, 37(13), 1528–1536. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2019.6765
- Hurtubise, J. M., Gorbet, D. J., Hynes, L., Macpherson, A. K., & Sergio, L. E. (2022). Cortical and cerebellar structural correlates of cognitive-motor integration performance in females with and without persistent concussion symptoms. Brain Injury, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2022.2158231
- Iglesias, J. E., Insausti, R., Lerma-Usabiaga, G., Bocchetta, M., Van Leemput, K., Greve, D. N., van der Kouwe, A., Fischl, B., Caballero-Gaudes, C., & Paz-Alonso, P. M. (2018). A probabilistic atlas of the human thalamic nuclei combining ex vivo MRI and histology. NeuroImage, 183, 314–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.08.012

- Jacobson, G. P., & Newman, C. W. (1990). The Development of the Dizziness Handicap Inventory. Archives of Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery, 116(4), 424–427. https://doi.org/10.1001/archotol.1990.01870040046011
- Janelle, F., Iorio-Morin, C., D'amour, S., & Fortin, D. (2022). Superior Longitudinal Fasciculus: A Review of the Anatomical Descriptions With Functional Correlates. Frontiers in Neurology, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2022.794618
- Jones, D. K., Travis, A. R., Eden, G., Pierpaoli, C., & Basser, P. J. (2005). PASTA: Pointwise assessment of streamline tractography attributes. Magnetic Resonance in Medicine, 53(6), 1462–1467. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.20484
- Kasahara, M., Menon, D. K., Salmond, C. H., Outtrim, J. G., Tavares, J. V. T., Carpenter, T. A., Pickard, J. D., Sahakian, B. J., & Stamatakis, E. A. (2011). Traumatic brain injury alters the functional brain network mediating working memory. Brain Injury, 25(12), 1170–1187. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699052.2011.608210
- Kelly, J. P. (2001). Loss of Consciousness: Pathophysiology and Implications in Grading and Safe Return to Play. Journal of Athletic Training, 36(3), 249–252. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12937492
- Kerr, Z. Y., Collins, C. L., Mihalik, J. P., Marshall, S. W., Guskiewicz, K. M., & Comstock, R. D. (2014). Impact Locations and Concussion Outcomes in High School Football Player-to-Player Collisions. Pediatrics, 134(3), 489–496. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-0770
- Kim, J.-H., Lee, J.-M., Jo, H. J., Kim, S. H., Lee, J. H., Kim, S. T., Seo, S. W., Cox, R. W., Na, D. L., Kim, S. I., & Saad, Z. S. (2010). Defining functional SMA and pre-SMA subregions in human MFC using resting state fMRI: Functional connectivity-based parcellation method. NeuroImage, 49(3), 2375–2386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.10.016
- King, N. S., Crawford, S., Wenden, F. J., Moss, N. E. G., & Wade, D. T. (1995). The Rivermead Post Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire: a measure of symptoms commonly experienced after head injury and its reliability. Journal of Neurology, 242(9), 587–592. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00868811
- King, N. (2014). Permanent post concussion symptoms after mild head injury: A systematic review of age and gender factors. NeuroRehabilitation, 34(4), 741–748. https://doi.org/10.3233/NRE-141072
- Klein, A. P., Tetzlaff, J. E., Bonis, J. M., Nelson, L. D., Mayer, A. R., Huber, D. L., Harezlak, J., Mathews, V. P., Ulmer, J. L., Sinson, G. P., Nencka, A. S., Koch, K. M., Wu, Y. C., Saykin, A. J., DiFiori, J. P., Giza, C. C., Goldman, J., Guskiewicz, K. M., Mihalik, J. P., Duma, S. M., ... & Meier, T. B. (2019). Prevalence of Potentially Clinically Significant Magnetic Resonance Imaging Findings in Athletes with and without Sport-Related Concussion. Journal of neurotrauma, 36(11), 1776–1785. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2018.6055
- Konishi, M., McLaren, D. G., Engen, H., & Smallwood, J. (2015). Shaped by the Past: The Default Mode Network Supports Cognition that Is Independent of Immediate Perceptual Input. PLOS ONE, 10(6), e0132209. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0132209

- Konstantinou, N., Pettemeridou, E., Stamatakis, E. A., Seimenis, I., & Constantinidou, F. (2019). Altered Resting Functional Connectivity Is Related to Cognitive Outcome in Males With Moderate-Severe Traumatic Brain Injury. Frontiers in Neurology, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.01163
- Korn, A., Golan, H., Melamed, I., Pascual-Marqui, R., & Friedman, A. (2005). Focal Cortical Dysfunction and Blood???Brain Barrier Disruption in Patients With Postconcussion Syndrome. Journal of Clinical Neurophysiology, 22(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.WNP.0000150973.24324.A7
- Kraus, M. F., Susmaras, T., Caughlin, B. P., Walker, C. J., Sweeney, J. A., & Little, D. M. (2007). White matter integrity and cognition in chronic traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. Brain, 130(10), 2508–2519. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awm216
- Kundu, P., Voon, V., Balchandani, P., Lombardo, M. V., Poser, B. A., & Bandettini, P. A. (2017). Multi-echo fMRI: A review of applications in fMRI denoising and analysis of BOLD signals. NeuroImage, 154, 59–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.03.033
- Laksari, K., Shafieian, M., & Darvish, K. (2012). Constitutive model for brain tissue under finite compression. Journal of Biomechanics, 45(4), 642–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2011.12.023
- Leddy, J. J., Sandhu, H., Sodhi, V., Baker, J. G., & Willer, B. (2012). Rehabilitation of Concussion and Post-concussion Syndrome. Sports Health: A Multidisciplinary Approach, 4(2), 147–154. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738111433673
- Leech, R., & Sharp, D. J. (2014). The role of the posterior cingulate cortex in cognition and disease. Brain, 137(1), 12–32. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awt162
- Leh, S. E., Schroeder, C., Chen, J.-K., Mallar Chakravarty, M., Park, M. T. M., Cheung, B., Huntgeburth, S. C., Gosselin, N., Hock, C., Ptito, A., & Petrides, M. (2017). Microstructural Integrity of Hippocampal Subregions Is Impaired after Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. Journal of Neurotrauma, 34(7), 1402–1411. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2016.4591
- Madden, D. J., Bennett, I. J., Burzynska, A., Potter, G. G., Chen, N., & Song, A. W. (2012). Diffusion tensor imaging of cerebral white matter integrity in cognitive aging. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease, 1822(3), 386–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2011.08.003
- Maffei, C., Lee, C., Planich, M., Ramprasad, M., Ravi, N., Trainor, D., Urban, Z., Kim, M., Jones, R. J., Henin, A., Hofmann, S. G., Pizzagalli, D. A., Auerbach, R. P., Gabrieli, J. D. E., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., Greve, D. N., Haber, S. N., & Yendiki, A. (2021). Using diffusion MRI data acquired with ultra-high gradient strength to improve tractography in routine-quality data. NeuroImage, 245, 118706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2021.118706
- Master, C. L., Katz, B. P., Arbogast, K. B., McCrea, M. A., McAllister, T. W., Pasquina, P. F., Lapradd, M., Zhou, W., Broglio, S. P., & CARE Consortium Investigators (2021). Differences in sport-related concussion for female and male athletes in comparable collegiate sports: a study from the NCAA-DoD Concussion Assessment, Research and Education (CARE) Consortium. British journal of sports medicine, 55(24), 1387–1394. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2020-103316

- Mavroudis, I., Chatzikonstantinou, S., Ciobica, A., Balmus, I.-M., Iordache, A., Kazis, D., Chowdhury, R., & Luca, A.-C. (2022). A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Grey Matter Volumetric Changes in Mild Traumatic Brain Injuries. Applied Sciences, 12(19), 9954. https://doi.org/10.3390/app12199954
- Mayer, A. R., Ling, J. M., Allen, E. A., Klimaj, S. D., Yeo, R. A., & Hanlon, F. M. (2015). Static and Dynamic Intrinsic Connectivity following Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. Journal of Neurotrauma, 32(14), 1046–1055. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2014.3542
- Mayer, A. R., Mannell, M. V., Ling, J., Gasparovic, C., & Yeo, R. A. (2011). Functional connectivity in mild traumatic brain injury. Human Brain Mapping, 32(11), 1825–1835. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21151
- McCrory, P., Meeuwisse, W., Dvorak, J., Aubry, M., Bailes, J., Broglio, S., Cantu, R. C., Cassidy, D., Echemendia, R. J., Castellani, R. J., Davis, G. A., Ellenbogen, R., Emery, C., Engebretsen, L., Feddermann-Demont, N., Giza, C. C., Guskiewicz, K. M., Herring, S., Iverson, G. L., ... Vos, P. E. (2017). Consensus statement on concussion in sport—the 5 th international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. British Journal of Sports Medicine, bjsports-2017-097699. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-097699
- McGlade, E., Rogowska, J., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. (2015). Sex differences in orbitofrontal connectivity in male and female veterans with TBI. Brain Imaging and Behavior, 9(3), 535–549. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-015-9379-3
- McKee, A. C., & Robinson, M. E. (2014). Military-related traumatic brain injury and neurodegeneration. Alzheimer's & Dementia, 10(3S). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2014.04.003
- Meier, T. B., Bellgowan, P. S. F., & Mayer, A. R. (2017). Longitudinal assessment of local and global functional connectivity following sports-related concussion. Brain Imaging and Behavior, 11(1), 129–140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-016-9520-y
- Menon, V., & Uddin, L. Q. (2010). Saliency, switching, attention and control: a network model of insula function. Brain Structure and Function, 214(5–6), 655–667. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-010-0262-0
- Messé, A., Caplain, S., Paradot, G., Garrigue, D., Mineo, J.-F., Soto Ares, G., Ducreux, D., Vignaud, F., Rozec, G., Desal, H., Pélégrini-Issac, M., Montreuil, M., Benali, H., & Lehéricy, S. (2011). Diffusion tensor imaging and white matter lesions at the subacute stage in mild traumatic brain injury with persistent neurobehavioral impairment. Human Brain Mapping, 32(6), 999–1011. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21092
- Messé, A., Caplain, S., Pélégrini-Issac, M., Blancho, S., Montreuil, M., Lévy, R., Lehéricy, S., & Benali, H. (2012). Structural integrity and postconcussion syndrome in mild traumatic brain injury patients. Brain Imaging and Behavior, 6(2), 283–292. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-012-9159-2
- Michinaga, S., & Koyama, Y. (2015). Pathogenesis of Brain Edema and Investigation into Anti-Edema Drugs. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 16(12), 9949–9975. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms16059949

- Mills, B. D., Goubran, M., Parivash, S. N., Dennis, E. L., Rezaii, P., Akers, C., Bian, W., Mitchell, L. A., Boldt, B., Douglas, D., Sami, S., Mouchawar, N., Wilson, E. W., DiGiacomo, P., Parekh, M., Do, H., Lopez, J., Rosenberg, J., Camarillo, D., ... Zeineh, M. (2020). Longitudinal alteration of cortical thickness and volume in high-impact sports. NeuroImage, 217, 116864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.116864
- Moore, R. D., Broglio, S. P., & Hillman, C. H. (2014). Sport-Related Concussion and Sensory Function in Young Adults. Journal of Athletic Training, 49(1), 36–41. https://doi.org/10.4085/1062-6050-49.1.02
- Multani, N., Goswami, R., Khodadadi, M., Ebraheem, A., Davis, K. D., Tator, C. H., Wennberg, R., Mikulis, D. J., Ezerins, L., & Tartaglia, M. C. (2016). The association between whitematter tract abnormalities, and neuropsychiatric and cognitive symptoms in retired professional football players with multiple concussions. Journal of Neurology, 263(7), 1332–1341. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-016-8141-0
- Murdaugh, D. L., King, T. Z., Sun, B., Jones, R. A., Ono, K. E., Reisner, A., & Burns, T. G. (2018). Longitudinal Changes in Resting State Connectivity and White Matter Integrity in Adolescents With Sports-Related Concussion. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 24(8), 781–792. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617718000413
- Murphy, A. C., Bertolero, M. A., Papadopoulos, L., Lydon-Staley, D. M., & Bassett, D. S. (2020). Multimodal network dynamics underpinning working memory. Nature Communications, 11(1), 3035. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-15541-0
- Mustafi, S. M., Yang, H.-C., Harezlak, J., Meier, T. B., Brett, B. L., Giza, C. C., Goldman, J., Guskiewicz, K. M., Mihalik, J. P., LaConte, S. M., Duma, S. M., Broglio, S. P., McCrea, M. A., McAllister, T. W., & Wu, Y.-C. (2022). Effects of White-Matter Tract Length in Sport-Related Concussion: A Tractography Study from the NCAA-DoD CARE Consortium. Journal of Neurotrauma, 39(21–22), 1495–1506. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2021.0239
- Mutlu, B., & Serbetcioglu, B. (2013). Discussion of the dizziness handicap inventory. Journal of Vestibular Research, 23(6), 271–277. https://doi.org/10.3233/VES-130488
- Nakajima, R., Kinoshita, M., Shinohara, H., & Nakada, M. (2020). The superior longitudinal fascicle: reconsidering the fronto-parietal neural network based on anatomy and function. Brain Imaging and Behavior, 14(6), 2817–2830. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-019-00187-4
- Nakayama, N. (2006). Evidence for white matter disruption in traumatic brain injury without macroscopic lesions. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 77(7), 850–855. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2005.077875
- Narayana, P. A. (2017). White matter changes in patients with mild traumatic brain injury: MRI perspective. Concussion, 2(2), CNC35. https://doi.org/10.2217/cnc-2016-0028
- Neggers, S. F. W., & Bekkering, H. (2000). Ocular Gaze is Anchored to the Target of an Ongoing Pointing Movement. Journal of Neurophysiology, 83(2), 639–651. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2000.83.2.639
- Niogi, S. N., Mukherjee, P., Ghajar, J., Johnson, C. E., Kolster, R., Lee, H., Suh, M.,

Zimmerman, R. D., Manley, G. T., & McCandliss, B. D. (2008). Structural dissociation of attentional control and memory in adults with and without mild traumatic brain injury. Brain, 131(12), 3209–3221. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn247

- Niu, X., Bai, L., Sun, Y., Wang, Y., Bai, G., Yin, B., Wang, S., Gan, S., Jia, X., & Liu, H. (2020). Mild traumatic brain injury is associated with effect of inflammation on structural changes of default mode network in those developing chronic pain. The Journal of Headache and Pain, 21(1), 135. https://doi.org/10.1186/s10194-020-01201-7
- Ohashi, Y., Kochiyama, T., Tsuneyoshi, K., Ohigashi, Y., Murai, T., & Ueda, K. (2018). Functional connectivity during monitoring for visuomotor incongruence. NeuroReport, 29(11), 917–923. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.00000000001053
- Origenes, A. K., Alleva, J. T., & Hudgins, T. H. (2019). Concussion rehabilitation/post concussion syndrome. Disease-a-Month, 65(10), 100854. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.disamonth.2019.02.007
- Pardini, J. E., Pardini, D. A., Becker, J. T., Dunfee, K. L., Eddy, W. F., Lovell, M. R., & Welling, J. S. (2010). Postconcussive Symptoms Are Associated With Compensatory Cortical Recruitment During a Working Memory Task. Neurosurgery, 67(4), 1020–1028. https://doi.org/10.1227/NEU.0b013e3181ee33e2
- Park, H.-J., Kim, J. J., Lee, S.-K., Seok, J. H., Chun, J., Kim, D. I., & Lee, J. D. (2008). Corpus callosal connection mapping using cortical gray matter parcellation and DT-MRI. Human Brain Mapping, 29(5), 503–516. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20314
- Pierias, A. (2021). An Exploration of Sex- and Hormones-related Differences In Cognitive and Motor Performance, Brain Network Integrity, and Recovery Metrics Following Concussion. [York University]. http://hdl.handle.net/10315/38816
- Potter, S., Leigh, E., Wade, D., & Fleminger, S. (2006). The Rivermead Post Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire. Journal of Neurology, 253(12), 1603–1614. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-006-0275-z
- Prigatano, G. P., & Gale, S. D. (2011). The current status of postconcussion syndrome. Current Opinion in Psychiatry, 24(3), 243–250. https://doi.org/10.1097/YCO.0b013e328344698b
- Ptak, R. (2012). The Frontoparietal Attention Network of the Human Brain. The Neuroscientist, 18(5), 502–515. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858411409051
- Ptak, R., Schnider, A., & Fellrath, J. (2017). The Dorsal Frontoparietal Network: A Core System for Emulated Action. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 21(8), 589–599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2017.05.002
- Rabinowitz, A. R., Li, X., & Levin, H. S. (2014). Sport and Nonsport Etiologies of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: Similarities and Differences. Annual Review of Psychology, 65(1), 301–331. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115103
- Raichle, M. E., MacLeod, A. M., Snyder, A. Z., Powers, W. J., Gusnard, D. A., & Shulman, G. L. (2001). A default mode of brain function. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 98(2), 676–682. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.98.2.676

- Ramage-Morin, P. L. (2008). Motor vehicle accident deaths, 1979 to 2004. Health Reports, 19(3), 45–51. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18847144
- Redding, G. M., & Wallace, B. (1996). Adaptive spatial alignment and strategic perceptual-motor control. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 22(2), 379–394. https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-1523.22.2.379
- Rivan, N. F. M., Singh, D. K. A., Shahar, S., Wen, G. J., Rajab, N. F., Din, N. C., Mahadzir, H., & Kamaruddin, M. Z. A. (2021). Cognitive frailty is a robust predictor of falls, injuries, and disability among community-dwelling older adults. BMC Geriatrics, 21(1), 593. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-021-02525-y
- Rogojin, A., Gorbet, D. J., Hawkins, K. M., & Sergio, L. E. (2019). Cognitive-Motor Integration Performance Is Affected by Sex, APOE Status, and Family History of Dementia. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 71(2), 685–701. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-190403
- Rogojin, A., Gorbet, D. J., Hawkins, K. M., & Sergio, L. E. (2022). Differences in resting state functional connectivity underlie visuomotor performance declines in older adults with a genetic risk (APOE ε4) for Alzheimer's disease. Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2022.1054523
- Rogojin, A., Gorbet, D. J., Hawkins, K. M., & Sergio, L. E. (2023). Differences in structural MRI and diffusion tensor imaging underlie visuomotor performance declines in older adults with an increased risk for Alzheimer's disease. Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2022.1054516
- Rosenthal, S., Gray, M., Fatima, H., Sair, H. I., & Whitlow, C. T. (2018). Functional MR Imaging: Blood Oxygen Level–Dependent and Resting State Techniques in Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. Neuroimaging Clinics of North America, 28(1), 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nic.2017.09.008
- Sabes, P. (2000). The planning and control of reaching movements. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 10(6), 740–746. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(00)00149-5
- Samper-Ternent, R., Karmarkar, A., Graham, J., Reistetter, T., & Ottenbacher, K. (2012). Frailty as a Predictor of Falls in Older Mexican Americans. Journal of Aging and Health, 24(4), 641–653. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264311428490
- Santangelo, V., & Bordier, C. (2019). Large-Scale Brain Networks Underlying Successful and Unsuccessful Encoding, Maintenance, and Retrieval of Everyday Scenes in Visuospatial Working Memory. Frontiers in Psychology, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00233
- Schaefer, A., Kong, R., Gordon, E. M., Laumann, T. O., Zuo, X.-N., Holmes, A. J., Eickhoff, S. B., & Yeo, B. T. T. (2018). Local-Global Parcellation of the Human Cerebral Cortex from Intrinsic Functional Connectivity MRI. Cerebral Cortex, 28(9), 3095–3114. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhx179
- Schultz, A. P., Chhatwal, J. P., Hedden, T., Mormino, E. C., Hanseeuw, B. J., Sepulcre, J., Huijbers, W., LaPoint, M., Buckley, R. F., Johnson, K. A., & Sperling, R. A. (2017). Phases of Hyperconnectivity and Hypoconnectivity in the Default Mode and Salience Networks Track with Amyloid and Tau in Clinically Normal Individuals. The Journal of

Neuroscience, 37(16), 4323–4331. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3263-16.2017

- Sen, P. N., & Basser, P. J. (2005). A Model for Diffusion in White Matter in the Brain. Biophysical Journal, 89(5), 2927–2938. https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.105.063016
- Sergio, L. E., Gorbet, D. J., Adams, M. S., & Dobney, D. M. (2020). The Effects of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury on Cognitive-Motor Integration for Skilled Performance. Frontiers in Neurology, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2020.541630
- Sergio, L. E., Gorbet, D. J., Tippett, W., Yan, X., & Neagu, B. (2009). When what you see isn't where you get: Cortical mechanisms of vision for complex action. In Cortical Mechanisms of Vision (pp. 81–118). Cambridge University Press.
- Shafi, R., Crawley, A. P., Tartaglia, M. C., Tator, C. H., Green, R. E., Mikulis, D. J., & Colantonio, A. (2020). Sex-specific differences in resting-state functional connectivity of large-scale networks in postconcussion syndrome. Scientific Reports, 10(1), 21982. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-77137-4
- Sharp, D. J., Scott, G., & Leech, R. (2014). Network dysfunction after traumatic brain injury. Nature Reviews Neurology, 10(3), 156–166. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2014.15
- Sharp, D. J., & Jenkins, P. O. (2015). Concussion is confusing us all. Practical Neurology, 15(3), 172–186.
- Shiramizu, H., Masuko, A., Ishizaka, H., Shibata, M., Atsumi, H., Imai, M., Osada, T., Mizokami, Y., Baba, T., & Matsumae, M. (2008). Mechanism of Injury to the Corpus Callosum, With Particular Reference to the Anatomical Relationship Between Site of Injury and Adjacent Brain Structures. Neurologia Medico-Chirurgica, 48(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.2176/nmc.48.1
- Simos, N. J., Manolitsi, K., Luppi, A. I., Kagialis, A., Antonakakis, M., Zervakis, M., Antypa, D., Kavroulakis, E., Maris, T. G., Vakis, A., Stamatakis, E. A., & Papadaki, E. (2023). Chronic Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: Aberrant Static and Dynamic Connectomic Features Identified Through Machine Learning Model Fusion. Neuroinformatics, 21(2), 427–442. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12021-022-09615-1
- Singh-Curry, V., & Husain, M. (2009). The functional role of the inferior parietal lobe in the dorsal and ventral stream dichotomy. Neuropsychologia, 47(6), 1434–1448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.11.033
- Smeha, N., Kalkat, R., Sergio, L. E., & Hynes, L. M. (2022). Sex-related differences in visuomotor skill recovery following concussion in working-aged adults. BMC Sports Science, Medicine and Rehabilitation, 14(1), 72. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13102-022-00466-6
- Smith, D. H., Wolf, J. A., Lusardi, T. A., Lee, V. M.-Y., & Meaney, D. F. (1999). High Tolerance and Delayed Elastic Response of Cultured Axons to Dynamic Stretch Injury. The Journal of Neuroscience, 19(11), 4263–4269. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.19-11-04263.1999
- Smith, S. M., Jenkinson, M., Woolrich, M. W., Beckmann, C. F., Behrens, T. E. J., Johansen-Berg, H., Bannister, P. R., De Luca, M., Drobnjak, I., Flitney, D. E., Niazy, R. K., Saunders,

J., Vickers, J., Zhang, Y., De Stefano, N., Brady, J. M., & Matthews, P. M. (2004). Advances in functional and structural MR image analysis and implementation as FSL. NeuroImage, 23, S208–S219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.07.051

- Smith, S. M., Vidaurre, D., Beckmann, C. F., Glasser, M. F., Jenkinson, M., Miller, K. L., Nichols, T. E., Robinson, E. C., Salimi-Khorshidi, G., Woolrich, M. W., Barch, D. M., Uğurbil, K., & Van Essen, D. C. (2013). Functional connectomics from resting-state fMRI. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 17(12), 666–682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2013.09.016
- So, I., Meusel, L.-A. C., Sharma, B., Monette, G. A., Colella, B., Wheeler, A. L., Rabin, J. S., Mikulis, D. J., & Green, R. E. A. (2023). Longitudinal Patterns of Functional Connectivity in Moderate-to-Severe Traumatic Brain Injury. Journal of Neurotrauma, 40(7–8), 665–682. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2022.0242
- Solomito, M. J., Reuman, H., & Wang, D. H. (2019). Sex differences in concussion: a review of brain anatomy, function, and biomechanical response to impact. Brain Injury, 33(2), 105– 110. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2018.1542507
- Song, S.-K., Sun, S.-W., Ju, W.-K., Lin, S.-J., Cross, A. H., & Neufeld, A. H. (2003). Diffusion tensor imaging detects and differentiates axon and myelin degeneration in mouse optic nerve after retinal ischemia. NeuroImage, 20(3), 1714–1722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.07.005
- Song, S.-K., Yoshino, J., Le, T. Q., Lin, S.-J., Sun, S.-W., Cross, A. H., & Armstrong, R. C. (2005). Demyelination increases radial diffusivity in corpus callosum of mouse brain. NeuroImage, 26(1), 132–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.01.028
- Sporns, O., Tononi, G., & Kötter, R. (2005). The Human Connectome: A Structural Description of the Human Brain. PLoS Computational Biology, 1(4), e42. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.0010042
- Spreng, R. N., Mar, R. A., & Kim, A. S. N. (2009). The Common Neural Basis of Autobiographical Memory, Prospection, Navigation, Theory of Mind, and the Default Mode: A Quantitative Meta-analysis. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 21(3), 489–510. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2008.21029
- Sridharan, D., Levitin, D. J., & Menon, V. (2008). A critical role for the right fronto-insular cortex in switching between central-executive and default-mode networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105(34), 12569–12574. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0800005105
- Stevens, M. C., Lovejoy, D., Kim, J., Oakes, H., Kureshi, I., & Witt, S. T. (2012). Multiple resting state network functional connectivity abnormalities in mild traumatic brain injury. Brain Imaging and Behavior, 6(2), 293–318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-012-9157-4
- Stutts, J. C., Stewart, J. R., & Martell, C. (1998). Cognitive test performance and crash risk in an older driver population. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 30(3), 337–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-4575(97)00108-5
- Sun, S.-W., Liang, H.-F., Trinkaus, K., Cross, A. H., Armstrong, R. C., & Song, S.-K. (2006). Noninvasive detection of cuprizone induced axonal damage and demyelination in the mouse

corpus callosum. Magnetic Resonance in Medicine, 55(2), 302–308. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.20774

- Symms, M. (2004). A review of structural magnetic resonance neuroimaging. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 75(9), 1235–1244. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2003.032714
- Taghdiri, F., Chung, J., Irwin, S., Multani, N., Tarazi, A., Ebraheem, A., Khodadadi, M., Goswami, R., Wennberg, R., Mikulis, D., Green, R., Davis, K., Tator, C., Eizenman, M., & Tartaglia, M. C. (2018). Decreased Number of Self-Paced Saccades in Post-Concussion Syndrome Associated with Higher Symptom Burden and Reduced White Matter Integrity. Journal of Neurotrauma, 35(5), 719–729. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2017.5274
- Tator, C. H., & Davis, H. (2014). The Postconcussion Syndrome in Sports and Recreation. Neurosurgery, 75, S106–S112. https://doi.org/10.1227/NEU.00000000000484
- Taylor, W. (2003). Diffusion tensor imaging: background, potential, and utility in psychiatric research. Biological Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00813-8
- Thomas Yeo, B. T., Krienen, F. M., Sepulcre, J., Sabuncu, M. R., Lashkari, D., Hollinshead, M., Roffman, J. L., Smoller, J. W., Zöllei, L., Polimeni, J. R., Fischl, B., Liu, H., & Buckner, R. L. (2011). The organization of the human cerebral cortex estimated by intrinsic functional connectivity. Journal of Neurophysiology, 106(3), 1125–1165. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00338.2011
- Tiernery, R. T., Sitler, M. R., Swanik, C. B., Swanik, K. A., Higgens, M., & Torg, J. (2005). Gender differences in head-neck segment dynamic stabilization during head acceleration. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 37(2), 272–279. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000152734.47516.AA
- Toledo, E., Lebel, A., Becerra, L., Minster, A., Linnman, C., Maleki, N., Dodick, D. W., & Borsook, D. (2012). The young brain and concussion: Imaging as a biomarker for diagnosis and prognosis. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 36(6), 1510–1531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.03.007
- Tournier, J.-D., Smith, R., Raffelt, D., Tabbara, R., Dhollander, T., Pietsch, M., Christiaens, D., Jeurissen, B., Yeh, C.-H., & Connelly, A. (2019). MRtrix3: A fast, flexible and open software framework for medical image processing and visualisation. NeuroImage, 202, 116137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116137
- Ubukata, S., Ueda, K., Sugihara, G., Yassin, W., Aso, T., Fukuyama, H., & Murai, T. (2016). Corpus Callosum Pathology as a Potential Surrogate Marker of Cognitive Impairment in Diffuse Axonal Injury. The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 28(2), 97–103. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.neuropsych.15070159
- Varriano, B., Tomlinson, G., Tarazi, A., Wennberg, R., Tator, C., & Tartaglia, M. C. (2018). Age, Gender and Mechanism of Injury Interactions in Post-Concussion Syndrome. Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences / Journal Canadien Des Sciences Neurologiques, 45(6), 636–642. https://doi.org/10.1017/cjn.2018.322

Veeramuthu, V., Narayanan, V., Kuo, T. L., Delano-Wood, L., Chinna, K., Bondi, M. W.,
Waran, V., Ganesan, D., & Ramli, N. (2015). Diffusion Tensor Imaging Parameters in Mild Traumatic Brain Injury and Its Correlation with Early Neuropsychological Impairment: A Longitudinal Study. Journal of Neurotrauma, 32(19), 1497–1509. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2014.3750

- Viano, D. C., Casson, I. R., Pellman, E. J., Zhang, L., King, A. I., & Yang, K. H. (2005). Concussion in Professional Football: Brain Responses by Finite Element Analysis: Part 9. Neurosurgery, 57(5), 891–916. https://doi.org/10.1227/01.NEU.0000186950.54075.3B
- Vossel, S., Geng, J. J., & Fink, G. R. (2014). Dorsal and Ventral Attention Systems. The Neuroscientist, 20(2), 150–159. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858413494269
- Wang, X., Xie, H., Cotton, A. S., Tamburrino, M. B., Brickman, K. R., Lewis, T. J., McLean, S. A., & Liberzon, I. (2015). Early Cortical Thickness Change after Mild Traumatic Brain Injury following Motor Vehicle Collision. Journal of Neurotrauma, 32(7), 455–463. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2014.3492
- Wang, C., Toigo, S., Zutrauen, S., McFaull, S. R., & Thompson, W (2023). Injuries among Canadian children and youth: an analysis using the 2019 Canadian Health Survey on Children and Youth. Health Promotion Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada, 43(2), 98– 102. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2014.3492
- Warner, M. A., Youn, T. S., Davis, T., Chandra, A., Marquez de la Plata, C., Moore, C., Harper, C., Madden, C. J., Spence, J., McColl, R., Devous, M., King, R. D., & Diaz-Arrastia, R. (2010). Regionally Selective Atrophy After Traumatic Axonal Injury. Archives of Neurology, 67(11). https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2010.149
- Westfall, D. R., West, J. D., Bailey, J. N., Arnold, T. W., Kersey, P. A., Saykin, A. J., & McDonald, B. C. (2015). Increased brain activation during working memory processing after pediatric mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI). Journal of Pediatric Rehabilitation Medicine, 8(4), 297–308. https://doi.org/10.3233/PRM-150348
- Wig, G. S. (2017). Segregated Systems of Human Brain Networks. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 21(12), 981–996. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2017.09.006
- Wig, G. S., Laumann, T. O., & Petersen, S. E. (2014). An approach for parcellating human cortical areas using resting-state correlations. NeuroImage, 93, 276–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.07.035
- Wilde, E. A., McCauley, S. R., Barnes, A., Wu, T. C., Chu, Z., Hunter, J. V., & Bigler, E. D. (2012). Serial measurement of memory and diffusion tensor imaging changes within the first week following uncomplicated mild traumatic brain injury. Brain Imaging and Behavior, 6(2), 319–328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-012-9174-3
- Wise, S. P., di Pellegrino, G., & Boussaoud, D. (1996). The premotor corte× and nonstandard sensorimotor mapping. Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology, 74(4), 469–482. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjpp-74-4-469
- Wong, J. K. Y., Churchill, N. W., Graham, S. J., Baker, A. J., & Schweizer, T. A. (2023). Altered connectivity of default mode and executive control networks among female patients with persistent post-concussion symptoms. Brain Injury, 37(2), 147–158.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2022.2163290

- World Health Organisation. (2008). Epidemiology of Falls, "WHO Global Report on Falls Prevention in Older Age".
- World Health Organisation (2019). International statistical classication of diseases and related health problems (11th ed.). https://icd.who.int/
- Xiong, K., Zhu, Y., Zhang, Y., Yin, Z., Zhang, J., Qiu, M., & Zhang, W. (2014). White matter integrity and cognition in mild traumatic brain injury following motor vehicle accident. Brain Research, 1591, 86–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.10.030
- Yendiki, A. (2011). Automated probabilistic reconstruction of white-matter pathways in health and disease using an atlas of the underlying anatomy. Frontiers in Neuroinformatics, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fninf.2011.00023
- Yendiki, A., Reuter, M., Wilkens, P., Rosas, H. D., & Fischl, B. (2016). Joint reconstruction of white-matter pathways from longitudinal diffusion MRI data with anatomical priors. NeuroImage, 127, 277–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.12.003
- Yin, S., Li, Y., & Chen, A. (2022). Functional coupling between frontoparietal control subnetworks bridges the default and dorsal attention networks. Brain Structure and Function, 227(7), 2243–2260. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-022-02517-7
- Zhe, X., Chen, L., Zhang, D., Tang, M., Gao, J., Ai, K., Liu, W., Lei, X., & Zhang, X. (2021). Cortical Areas Associated With Multisensory Integration Showing Altered Morphology and Functional Connectivity in Relation to Reduced Life Quality in Vestibular Migraine. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2021.717130

Tables

Table 1. Study participants characteristics (n =	22)						
Demographics							
Age	47.23±9.26						
Sex, n (%) male	5 (22.73)						
Education (yrs)	16.77±1.99						
Days since last concussion	1795.13±963.11						
Average number of concussion	3.05±1.76						
Loss of consciousness, yes (%)*	15.87						
Dazed and confused, yes (%)*	92.06						
No memory for events immediately after the							
injury, yes (%)*	28.33						
PP	CS severity						
RPQ-3	7.18±2.22						
RPQ-13	32.68±10.26						
Dizzi	ness severity						
DHI-Physical	11.27±4.43						
DHI-Functional	20.09±10.26						
DHI-Emotional	13.36±7.23						
DHI-Total	44.73±20.45						
Depre	ssion severity						
PHQ-9	12.05±6.59						
Visuo	motor metrics						
Standard timing composition score	1.46e-15±2.61						
Standard trajectory composite score	4.04e-16±1.76						
Standard reaction time (ms)	777.50±657.64						
Standard full path length (mm)	54.25±1.88						
PC + FR timing composition score	-5.75e-16±1.69						
PC + FR trajectory composition score	1.71e-16±1.82						
PC + FR DR	31.60±22.38						
PC + FR reaction time (ms)	476.14±302.88						
PC + FR full path length (mm)	74.43±31.02						

All data are presented in mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated. DHI = Dizziness Handicap Inventory (DHI); PHQ = Patient Health Questionnaire; PPCS = Persistent Post-Concussion Syndrome; PC + FR = Plane Change + Feedback Reversal; RPQ = Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire. * across all number of concussions

Table 2. Frequency of endorsed persistent symptoms after concussion based on rating of 2 and						
greater* on the Rivermead Post-concussion Symptom Questionnaire (RPQ)						
	n (%)	Mean \pm SD				
Headaches	19 (86.36)	3.26±0.73				
Dizziness	21 (95.45)	2.67 ± 0.86				
Nausea and/or Vomiting	14 (63.64)	2.36 ± 0.63				
Noise sensitivity, easily upset						
by loud noise	20 (90.91)	3.45 ± 0.69				
Sleep disturbance	18 (81.82)	3.17±0.86				
Fatigue, tiring more easily	18 (81.82)	$3.56{\pm}0.70$				
Being irritable, easily angered	17 (77.27)	3.18 ± 0.88				
Feeling depressed or tearful	12 (54.55)	2.75±0.75				
Feeling frustrated or						
impatient	18 (81.82)	2.73 ± 0.83				
Forgetfulness, poor memory	21 (95.45)	3.33±0.73				
Poor concentration	22 (100.00)	3.09±0.75				
Taking longer to think	21 (95.45)	3.14±0.79				
Blurred vision	14 (63.64)	2.93±0.83				
Light sensitivity, easily upset						
by bright light	18 (81.82)	$3.00{\pm}0.84$				
Double vision	11 (50.00)	2.55±0.69				
Restlessness	12 (54.55)	2.67±0.49				
*Rating of $2 = a$ mild problem						

Table 3. Brain regions showing a significant relationship between cortical thickness, dizziness-related symptoms, and visuomotor performance.

dizziness-related symptoms, and visuomotor performance.							
Measures	Regions	MNI Coordinates <i>x, y, z</i>	Cluster size (mm ²)	Cluster-wise <i>p-value</i>	Confidential Interval		
DHI							
Functional	Left inferior parietal gyrus	-30.2, -66.5, 41.0	329.31	0.048	0.043 - 0.054		
Emotional	Left inferior parietal gyrus	-32.7, -77.5, 39.9	354.35	0.036	0.031 - 0.041		
Total	Left inferior parietal gyrus	-31.0, -66.4, 41.3	337.21	0.045	0.039 - 0.050		
PC+FR Condi	ition						
Timing score	Left superior parietal gyrus	-19.6, -79.5, 42.2	347.40	0.035	0.029 - 0.039		
Reaction time	Left superior parietal gyrus	-16.6, -86.4, 31.8	400.71	0.011	0.008 - 0.014		
Reaction time	Right superior parietal gyrus	9.3, -64.2, 59.6	345.39	0.033	0.028 - 0.037		
Note. MNI coordinates reflect location of peak voxel within cluster. DHI, dizziness handicap							
inventory; MNI, Montreal neurological institute; PC+ FR, plane change and feedback reversal							

Table 4. Multivariate linear regression models used to assess the relationship between resting state functional connectivity (RSFC), persistent PCS, and visuomotor performance.

Outcome	Independent	Unstandardise	S F	t_value	Unadjuste	Adjusted
Outcome	variables	d B	5. L.	<i>i-vaiue</i>	d <i>p-value</i>	p-value
	T			r	1	
	Intercept	-2.559	3.917	-0.653	0.523	-
	VN	7.884	3.363	2.344	0.033	0.166
	Sex:Female	2.354	1.835	1.283	0.219	0.876
	Age	0.002	0.069	0.032	0.975	1.000
	Days since					
	last .	0.0001	5 2 2 1 4	0.102	0.051	1 000
	<u>concussion</u>	-0.0001	5.321e-4	-0.192	0.851	1.000
	Sport	0.647	0.602	1.075	0.200	0 000
	experience	0.04 /	0.002	1.075	0.299	0.898
	Intercent	_2 363	3 557	-0.664	0.517	_
	SMN	6 922	2 603	2 660	0.017	0.089
	Sex:Female	2 248	1 667	1 348	0.018	0.089
	Age	0.034	0.060	0.565	0.581	1 000
RPO-3	Days since	0.051	0.000	0.202	0.001	1.000
€ -	last					
	concussion	-0.0003	5.165e-4	-0.657	0.521	1.000
	Sport					
	experience	0.392	0.517	0.758	0.460	1.000
	Intercept	-2.187	3.885	-0.563	0.582	-
	DAN	9.068	3.999	2.268	0.039	0.193
	Sex:Female	2.279	1.850	1.232	0.237	0.948
	Age	0.001	0.070	0.015	0.988	0.993
	Days since					
	last .	0.0004		o (o -	0.40.6	
	concussion	-0.0004	5.447/e-4	-0.697	0.496	0.993
	Sport	0.7(2	0 (1 1	1 1 0 2	0.255	0.049
	experience	0.762	0.644	1.183	0.255	0.948
	Intercent	_0.083	17 306	_0 522	0.600	
	DAN	-9.085	17.390	-0.322	0.009	- 0.174
	Sex:Female	13 356	8 286	1.612	0.033	0.511
	Age	-0.059	0.200	-0.188	0.120	0.854
	Days since	0.057	0.515	0.100	0.004	0.054
RPQ-13	last					
	concussion	-0.003	0.002	-1.078	0.298	0.596
	Sport	_				
	experience	3.944	2.883	1.368	0.192	0.575
	•	•		•	•	-

	Intercept	-17.582	19.057	-0.923	0.371	-
	FPCN	41.924	16.704	2.510	0.024	0.120
	Sex:Female		8.711	1.862	0.082	0.329
	Age	0.165	0.269	0.613	0.549	1.000
	Days since					
	last					
	concussion	-0.0005	0.002	-0.204	0.841	1.000
	Sport					
	experience	4.718	2.959	1.594	0.132	0.395
			1	1	1	1
	Intercept	-12.222	18.111	-0.675	0.510	-
	FPCNb	31.943	13.463	2.373	0.032	0.157
	Sex:Female	13.706	8.273	1.657	0.118	0.473
	Age	0.238	0.267	0.891	0.387	0.774
	Days since					
	last					
	concussion	-0.001	0.002	-0.717	0.484	0.774
	Sport					
	experience	3.672	2.775	1.323	0.206	0.617
	T	147.044	(0.042	2.146	0.051	
	Intercept	147.944	68.943	2.146	0.051	-
	SVAN	-108.623	48.863	-2.223	0.045	0.178
	Sex:Female	-75.352	24.981	-3.016	0.009	0.059
–	Age	2.145	0.891	2.406	0.032	0.157
PC+FR	Days since					
(PLf)	last .	0.000	0.007	1 107	0.000	0.965
	concussion	-0.008	0.007	-1.10/	0.288	0.865
	Sport	۹ 0 5 6	0 171	1.057	0.200	0.965
-	Video como	-8.930	8.4/4	-1.037	0.309	0.865
	video game	2 177	1 281	0.508	0.610	0.865
Unadjusted on	d adjusted p volu	-2.1//	4.204	-0.308	1tiple compo	
Holm correcti	on method and	considered sign	niticant at n	< 0.05 DC	+FR plane	change and
feedback reve	ersal. PI f ful	l nath length:	RPO rive	rmead nost	t-conclussion	symptoms
questionnaire: EPCN frontonarietal control network: EPCNh frontonarietal control network						
subnetwork h:	SVAN, salience	ventral attention	network: VN	J. visual netw	ork: SMN s	ensorimotor
control networ	k; DAN, dorsal	attention networl	k; S.E, standa	ard errors.	,, 5	

Table 5. White matter tracts showing a significant relationship between along-tract measures persistent PCS dizziness-related symptoms and visuomotor performance							
Measures	Regions	Voxel Coordinates x, y, z Cluster size (mm ³)		Cluster- wise <i>p</i> - <i>value</i>	Confidential Interval (CI)		
RPQ	•	•	· · · · · ·				
RPQ-3	CC splenium MD	72.00, 0.00, 40.5		0.019	0.017 – 0.022		
DHI							
	CC splenium MD	72.00, 0.00, 0.00	33.8	0.035	0.032 - 0.039		
Functional	CC splenium MD	6.00, 0.00, 0.00	33.8	0.035	0.032 – 0.039		
	CC body- premotor MD	46.00, 0.00, 0.00	47.2	0.046	0.043 – 0.050		
Standard Co	ndition						
Timing	right ILF FA	57.00, 0.00, 0.00	54.0	0.018	0.014 - 0.021		
score	left ILF MD	74.00, 0.00, 0.00	74.2	0.009	0.008 - 0.012		
PC+FR Cond	lition						
Timing score	right ILF FA	6.00, 0.00, 0.00	50.6	0.023	0.019 – 0.027		
Note. voxel coordinates reflect location of peak voxel within cluster. DHI, dizziness							
handicap inventory; PC+ FR, plane change and feedback reversal; RPQ, rivermead							
post-concussi	post-concussion symptoms questionnaire; CC, corpus callosum; MD, mean diffusivity;						
ILF, inferior longitudinal fasciculus; FA, fractional anisotropy.							

Table 6. Multivariate linear regression models used to assess the relationship between						
entire whit	te matter tracts m	easures, persistent	PCS, and vi	suomotor	r performanc	ce.
	Independent	Unstandardised			Unadjust	Adjuste
Outcome	variables	R	S.E.	t-value	ed p-	d p-
	variables	Ъ			value	value
RPQ-3						
	Intercept	-80.403	22.436	-3.584	0.003	-
	Right SLF-2					
	MD	106.750	28.801	3.706	0.002	0.009
	Sex:Female	-0.831	1.046	-0.794	0.441	0.959
	Age	0.213	0.055	3.900	0.002	0.008
	Days since last					
	concussion	-0.001	0.001	-1.031	0.319	0.959
	Sport					
	experience	0.099	0.389	0.253	0.804	0.959
Standard	Condition					
					ſ	
Timing	Intercept	63.327	24.901	2.543	0.030	-
score	right CST MD	-98.568	33.308	-2.959	0.012	0.059
	Sex:Female	-1.817	0.892	-2.037	0.064	0.193
	Age	0.241	0.047	5.081	<i>p</i> < 0.001	0.002
	Days since last					
	concussion	-0.001	0.0004	-2.032	0.064	0.193
	Sport					
	experience	-0.200	0.386	-0.519	0.613	0.613
	Video game					
	experience	0.642	0.225	2.850	0.015	0.059
					ſ	
	Intercept	9700.227	5069.963	1.913	0.079	-
	Left SLF-1					
	MD	-14389.378	6488.375	-2.218	0.047	0.154
	Sex:Female	-743.888	304.884	-2.445	0.031	0.154
	Age	55.072	16.284	3.382	0.005	0.033
	Days since last					
	concussion	-0.227	0.137	-1.651	0.125	0.249
	Sport					
RT	experience	-20.555	130.009	-0.158	0.877	0.877
	Video game					
	experience	184.348	78.109	2.360	0.036	0.154
			T		Γ	
	Intercept	10961.562	5159.528	2.125	0.055	-
	right SLF-1					
	MD	-16148.645	6661.704	-2.424	0.032	0.114
	Sex:Female	-818.289	293.573	-2.787	0.016	0.082
	Age	55.101	15.794	3.489	0.004	0.027

	Days since last								
	concussion	-0.169	0.129	-1.311	0.214	0.428			
	Sport								
	experience	-59.668	124.525	-0.479	0.640	0.640			
	Video game								
	experience	189.836	76.276	2.489	0.028	0.114			
PC+FR C	ondition								
	Intercept	26.813	7.822	3.428	0.005	-			
	right CST FA	-52.428	15.092	-3.474	0.005	0.028			
	Sex:Female	0.233	0.708	0.329	0.748	1.000			
	Age	-0.008	0.037	-0.214	0.834	1.000			
Trajector	Days since last								
y score	concussion	0.0001	0.0003	0.388	0.705	1.000			
	Sport								
	experience	0.341	0.301	1.133	0.279				
	Video game								
	experience	-0.469	0.181	-2.599	0.023	0.116			
	Intercept	443.560	177.409	2.500	0.027	-			
	right CST FA	-839.299	342.312	-2.452	0.031	0.183			
	Sex:Female	-37.211	16.056	-2.318	0.039	0.195			
	Age	1.877	0.847	2.216	0.047	0.195			
	Days since last								
	concussion	-0.002	0.007	-0.285	0.780	1.000			
	Sport								
	experience	0.590	6.823	0.086	0.933	1.000			
	Video game								
	experience	1.341	4.094	0.328	0.749	1.000			
	Intercept	610.778	241.584	2.528	0.027	-			
DI f	left ILF MD	-735.327	296.583	-2.479	0.029	0.174			
FLI	Sex:Female	-27.262	16.419	-1.660	0.123	0.614			
	Age	1.389	0.852	1.629	0.129	0.614			
	Days since last								
	concussion	-0.004	0.007	-0.604	0.557	1.000			
	Sport								
	experience	6.617	7.048	0.939	0.366	1.000			
	Video game								
	experience	0.739	4.054	0.183	0.858	1.000			
	Intercept	640.476	278.466	2.317	0.039	-			
	left SLF-1 MD	-802.793	353.812	-2.269	0.043	0.255			
	Sex:Female	-31.588	16.593	-1.904	0.081	0.406			
	Age	1.282	0.888	1.444	0.174	0.697			

	Days since last					
	concussion	-0.007	0.007	-0.910	0.381	1.000
	Sport					
	experience	4.728	7.089	0.667	0.517	1.000
	Video game					
	experience	2.093	4.259	0.491	0.632	1.000
	1		•	1 1		
	Intercept	858.497	321.618	2.694	0.019	-
	left SLF-2 MD	-1105.439	416.987	-2.651	0.021	0.127
	Sex:Female	-28.746	15.888	-1.809	0.096	0.478
	Age	1.444	0.829	1.742	0.107	0.478
	Days since last					
	concussion	-0.007	0.007	-1.013	0.331	0.873
	Sport					
	experience	7.710	6.982	1.104	0.291	0.873
	Video game					
	experience	4.023	4.229	0.951	0.360	0.873
			•			
	Intercept	1175.812	374.669	3.138	0.009	-
	right SLF-2					
	MD	-1565.452	505.139	-3.099	0.009	0.055
	Sex:Female	-32.663	14.709	-2.221	0.046	0.232
	Age	1.336	0.782	1.709	0.113	0.453
	Days since last					
	concussion	0.004	0.007	0.579	0.573	0.789
	Sport					
	experience 5.587		6.329	0.883	0.395	0.789
	Video game					
	experience	6.186	4.207	1.470	0.167	0.502
	Intercept	-26.084	10.341	-2.522	0.027	-
	right CST FA	44.128	19.952	2.212	0.047	0.283
	Sex:Female	0.486	0.936	0.519	0.613	1.000
	Age	0.095	0.049	1.916	0.079	0.397
Timing	Days since last					
score	concussion	-0.001	0.0004	-1.781	0.100	0.401
	Sport					
	experience	0.074	0.398	-0.186	0.856	1.000
	Video game					
	experience	0.084	0.239	0.350	0.732	1.000
	Intercept	-4577.085	1458.654	-3.138	0.009	-
рт	right CST FA	10174.886	2814.487	3.615	0.004	0.021
K1	Sex:Female	348.622	132.016	2.641	0.022	0.108
	Age	-6.429	6.965	-0.923	0.374	0.969

	Days since last					
	concussion	-0.026	0.058	-0.454	0.658	0.969
	Sport					
	experience	57.832	56.102	1.031	0.323	0.969
	Video game					
	experience	-64.088	33.666	-1.904	0.081	0.325
	Intercept	-9062.405	4000.007	-2.266	0.043	-
	right SLF-2					
	MD	13026.401	5392.922	2.415	0.033	0.196
	Sex:Female	307.959	157.041	1.961	0.074	0.294
	Age	-1.364	8.347	-0.163	0.873	1.000
	Days since last					
	concussion	-0.074	0.072	-1.024	0.326	0.978
	Sport					
	experience	11.523	67.579	0.171	0.867	1.000
	Video game					
	experience	-99.348	44.918	-2.212	0.047	0.236
	Intercept	-674.259	260.916	-2.584	0.024	_
	right CST MD	831.019	349.011	2.381	0.035	0.139
	Sex:Female	-17.943	9.348	-1.919	0.079	0.237
	1 ~ 2					<i>p</i> <
	Age	2.712	0.497	5.456	<i>p</i> < 0.001	0.001
% DR	Days since last					
	concussion	-0.013	0.004	-3.197	0.008	0.038
	Sport					
	experience	6.320	4.042	1.564	0.144	0.289
	Video game					
	experience	1.219	2.361	0.516	0.615	0.615
Unadjuste	d and adjusted	p-values reporte	d. Values	were ac	ljusted for	multiple
compariso	ns using Holm c	correction method	and consid	lered sign	nificant at p	p < 0.05.
PC+FR, plane change and feedback reversal; PLf, full path length; RPQ, rivermead post-						
concussion symptoms questionnaire; S.E, standard errors; RT, reaction time; DR,						
direction	reversal; MD, m	ean diffusivity; I	LF, inferior	longitud	linal fascicu	ulus; FA,
fractional	anisotropy; CS'	T, corticospinal	tract; SLF	-1 & -2, s	superior lor	ngitudinal
fasciculus	1 & 2.					

Figures



Figure 1. Schematic drawing of the visuomotor transformation tasks. Lighter eye and hand symbols denote the starting position for each trial (green central target). Darker eye and hand symbols denote the instructed eye and hand movements for each task. Red circles denote the peripheral (reach) target, presented randomly in one of four locations (left, up, right, or down relative to the central target). The direct interaction/standard condition requires standard mapping, where participants slide their finger on a touch screen to move a cursor from a central target to one of four peripheral targets (**Figure 1a**). The non-standard condition is a cognitive-motor integration (CMI) condition, where targets are either spatially dissociated from the plane of hand motion (plane-change) and have a 180° feedback reversal (plane-change + feedback reversal (PC+FR)) (**Figure 1b**).



Figure 2. Sequence of events during one trial of the visuomotor task. The central (home) target is where all trials begin. Once the participant moves the cursor (white square) into the central target, the target changes from yellow to green to signify a movement preparation period. After 2000 milliseconds (ms), a red peripheral target appears in one of four directions (up, down, left or right of the centre) and serves as the 'go' signal. Once the peripheral target is acquired and held for 500 ms it disappears, signalling the end of the trial. After an inter-trial interval of 2000 ms, the central yellow target reappears and the participant moves back to the central target to start the next trial.



Figure 3. 3D depiction of Desikan-Killiany atlas obtained from FreeSurfer parcellation of cortical regions.



Figure 4. White matter tracts of interest obtained from Tracula Constrained by UnderLying Anatomy (TRACULA), shown in **a**) CC—PM, corpus callosum—premotor; CC—P, corpus callosum—parietal; CC-S, corpus callosum—splenium; **b**) MCP, middle cerebellar peduncle; **c**) CST, corticospinal tract; **d**) ILF, inferior longitudinal fasciculus; **e**) SLF, superior longitudinal fasciculus 1, superior longitudinal fasciculus 2.



Figure 5. Example parcellation from a single subject initialised with the 200-parcel 7-network Schaefer atlas (Schaefer et al. 2018) with refined parcel borders that functionally correspond to the subject's resting state data as a result of the GPIP process.



Figure 6. Resting functional connectivity networks. DAN, dorsal attention network; DMN, default mode network; FPCN, frontoparietal network; LN, limbic network; SMN, sensorimotor control network; SVAN, salience ventral attention network: VN, visual network. The limbic network was excluded from analyses.



Figure 7. The 3 subnetworks of the frontoparietal control network (FPCN), **a**) left FPCNa; **b**) right FPCNa; **c**) left FPCNb; **d**) right FPCNb; **e**) left FPCNc; **f**) right FPCNc.



Figure 8. Cortical regions of interest. **Top panel:** RSP, right superior parietal; RIP, right inferior parietal; RPC, right precentral; RRMF, right rostral middle frontal; RCMF, right caudal middle frontal; RSF, right superior frontal; RP, right precuneus; RC, right cuneus. **Bottom panel:** LSP, left superior parietal; LIP, left inferior parietal; LPC, left precentral; LRMF, left rostral middle frontal; LCMF, left caudal middle frontal; LSF, left superior frontal; LP, left precuneus; LC, left cuneus.



Figure 9. Results from paired t-test between standard and PC+FR conditions on **a**) percentage direction reversal and: **b**) full path length. PC+FR, plane change and feedback reversal.



Figure 10. Significant cluster from region of interest analysis overlaid on a left inflated surface. The blue colour depicts a negative association between left inferior parietal gyrus thickness with **a**) DHI functional domain; **b**) DHI emotional domain; **c**) DHI total score. DHI, dizziness handicap inventory.



Figure 11. Significant cluster from region of interest analysis overlaid on a left and right inflated surfaces. The blue colour depicts **a**) negative association between cortical thickness cluster in left superior parietal gyrus and timing composite score in PC+FR condition; **b**) negative association between cortical thickness clusters in bilateral superior parietal gyri thickness and reaction time in PC+FR condition PC+FR plane change and feedback reversal



Figure 12. Relationship between mean intra-networks RSFC and RPQ-3 score. Higher score in early persistent PCS cluster was associated with higher RSFC in **a**) VN; **b**) SMN; **c**) DAN. DAN, dorsal attention network; SMN, sensorimotor control network; RSFC, resting state functional connectivity; RPQ-3, rivermead post-concussion symptoms questionnaire cluster 1; VN, visual network.



Figure 13. Relationship between mean intra-networks RSFC and RPQ-13 score. Higher score in later psychological and cognitive persistent PCS cluster was associated with higher RSFC in **a**) DAN; **b**) FPCN; **c**) FPCNb. DAN, dorsal attention network; FPCN, frontoparietal control network; FPCNb, frontoparietal control network b; RSFC, resting state functional connectivity; RPQ-13, rivermead post-concussion symptoms questionnaire cluster 2.



Figure 14. Relationship between mean intra-SVAN RSFC and full path length in PC+FR condition. PC+FR, plane change and feedback reversal; RSFC, resting state functional connectivity; SVAN, salient ventral attention network.



Figure 15. Significant positive associations from along-tract MD analysis with RPQ and DHI scores. White arrows indicate affected areas along each white matter tract. **a)** RPQ-3 and CC splenium; **b)** DHI functional domain and CC splenium; **c)** DHI functional and CC body-premotor. CC, corpus callosum; DHI, dizziness handicap inventory; RPQ, rivermead post-concussion symptoms questionnaire.



Figure 16. Higher MD in the entire right SLF-2 was associated with higher score in early persistent PCS cluster. MD, mean diffusivity; SLF-2, superior longitudinal fasciculus 2; RPQ-3, rivermead post-concussion symptoms questionnaire cluster 1.



Figure 17. Significant associations from along-tract FA and MD analyses with visuomotor performance. White arrows indicate affected areas along each white matter tract. **a**) negative association between standard condition and right ILF FA; **b**) positive association between standard condition and left ILF MD; **c**) negative association between PC+FR condition and right ILF FA. FA, fractional anisotropy; ILF, inferior longitudinal fasciculus; MD, mean diffusivity; PC+FR, plane change and feedback reversal.



Figure 18. Relationship between MD in the entire-tract and standard condition. **a**) right CST and timing score; **b**) left SLF-1 and reaction time score: **c**) right SLF-1 and reaction time score. CST, corticospinal tract; MD, mean diffusivity; SLF-1, superior longitudinal fasciculus 1.



Figure 19. Relationship between FA in the entire-tract and PC+FR condition. **a**) right CST and trajectory score; **b**) right CST and full path length score; **c**) right CST and timing score; **d**) right CST and reaction time score. CST, corticospinal tract; FA, fractional anisotropy PC+FR, plane change and feedback reversal.



Figure 20. Relationship between MD in the entire-tract and PC+FR condition. **a)** right CST and percentage directional reversal; **b)** right SLF-2 and reaction time score. CST, corticospinal tract; MD, mean diffusivity; PC+FR, plane change and feedback reversal; SLF-2, superior longitudinal fasciculus 2.

APPENDICES

A: Health Questionnaire

PLEASE CIRCLE, FILL IN, OR HIGHLIGHT RESPONSES AS APPROPRIATE

ID:	Age:	DOB	:	Today's Date:
Dominant Hand	: LEFT or RI	GHT or l	ВОТН	
Sex assigned at	birth: Male F	emale	Prefer not to say	7
To which gende	r identity do you	ı most ide	ntify?	
O Cis-gend	ler (non-trans) w	voman		
O Trans we	oman			
O Cis-gend	ler (non-trans) n	nan		
O Trans ma	an			
O Non-bina	ary			
O Not liste	d			
O Prefer no	ot to say			
Highest Level of Educa	tion:	Wor	k Full Time / Part T	Time / Neither:
Ethnicity:		Occi	upation:	
What sports (rec	reational or con	npetitive,	or none) do you pla	y/have played:
When did you start play	'ing your first or	ganized s	port?	

Do you currently have a non-head related injury? YES or NO

- a) Has it kept you from play/work for longer than 48 hours? YES or NO
- b) Has it kept you from play/work for longer than 3 weeks? YES or NO

Health History

Please place an 'x' in the appropriate column:

	No	Yes	If yes, approximate age at diagnosis OR treatment?
Diagnosed with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity			
Disorder			
Diagnosed with a Learning Disorder			
Received special education (e.g.,			
additional reading/writing/math support)			
Received mental health treatment (e.g.,			
anxiety, depression, etc.)			
Diagnosed with Migraine or a Chronic			
Headache Condition			
Do you have a family history of migraine?			If yes, please list family members:

Medications

Are you currently taking medication(s): No Yes

If yes, please list all medications: <u>Menstrual Cycle</u>

Post- menopausal is defined as having no period for the past 12 months. Peri-menopausal is defined as the period around the onset of menopause that is often marked by various physical signs.

Are you: Pre-menopausal or Peri-menopausal or Post- menopausal or Not Applicable (circle one; If you are pre-menopausal, please answer the following questions)

The menstrual cycle is counted from the first day of one period to the first day of the next. Are you on birth control (e.g., the pill; IUD, patch, etc.)? No Yes On average, do you have a regular period (i.e., approximately every month)? No \vert Yes On average, approximately how long is your menstrual cycle (see definition above)? When did your last period start (date)? How many days did it last?

Current Alcohol/Substance Use

Please circle the correct answer for you.

	How often do you have a drink contain Never Monthly or less 2- 4+ times per week		ining alcohol? 2-4 times a month	2-3 times per week						
drinkin	How many dri	How many drinks containing alcohol do you have on a typical day when you are								
more	1 or 2	3 or 4	5 or 6	7 or 9	10 or					
	How often do you have six or more d Never Less than monthly 4+ times per week		lrinks on one occasion' Monthly	? 2-3 times per week						
times p	How often do Never ber week	you smoke marijuana? Monthly or less	2-4 times a month	2-3 times per week	4+					

For this section, we define a concussion as a blow to the head or whiplash that caused ANY ONE OR MORE of the following:

Witnessed Loss of Consciousness (being "knocked out", and someone saw it), Loss of Memory for Events Immediately Before and/or After the Injury, or Feeling Dazed and Confused for at Least 30 Seconds.

Using the above definition, how many concussions do you think you have sustained during

your whole life? _____ Date of your most recent

concussion (as specific as you can recall)?

Please provide details for your concussions (if you have had more than 5, try to think of your 5 worst injuries).

Injury #1: Approximate Age: _____

How Did it Happen (circle event): Sports, Fall, Struck in Head by Object, Fight, Motor vehicle Accident, Bicycle Accident, Other:

Injury #2: Approximate Age: _____

How Did it Happen (circle event): Sports, Fall, Struck in Head by Object, Fight, Motor vehicle Accident, Bicycle Accident, Other: _____

Injury #3: Approximate Age: _____

How Did it Happen (circle event): Sports, Fall, Struck in Head by Object, Fight, Motor vehicle Accident, Bicycle Accident, Other: _____

Injury #4: Approximate Age: _____

How Did it Happen (circle event): Sports, Fall, Struck in Head by Object, Fight, Motor vehicle Accident, Bicycle Accident, Other: _____

Injury #5: Approximate Age: _____

How Did it Happen (circle event): Sports, Fall, Struck in Head by Object, Fight, Motor vehicle Accident, Bicycle Accident, Other: _____

	Circle your answer for each question as it relates to the concussions you listed above									
	Injury #1		Injury #2		Injury #3		Injury #4		Injury #5	
Did someone see you lose consciousness?	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Ye s	No	Yes	No	Yes
Were you dazed and confused?		Yes	No	Yes	No	Ye s	No	Yes	No	Yes
Did you have no memory for events immediately after the injury?	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Ye s	No	Yes	No	Yes
Did you go to the hospital?	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Ye s	No	Yes	No	Yes
---	----	-----	----	-----	----	---------	----	-----	----	-----
Were you medically diagnosed with a concussion or brain injury?	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Ye s	No	Yes	No	Yes
Did you miss any school or work because of this injury?	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Ye s	No	Yes	No	Yes
Did you have symptoms for more than 24 hours?	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Ye s	No	Yes	No	Yes
Did you have symptoms for more than one week?	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Ye s	No	Yes	No	Yes
Did you have symptoms for more than one month?	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Ye s	No	Yes	No	Yes

Over the <u>last 2 weeks</u>, how often have you been bothered by any of the following problems? (PHQ-9)

	Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
1. Little interest or pleasure in doing things	0	1	2	3
2. Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless	0	1	2	3
3. Trouble falling or staying asleep, or sleeping too much	0	1	2	3
4. Feeling tired or having little energy	0	1	2	3
5. Poor appetite or overeating	0	1	2	3
6. Feeling bad about yourself – or that you are a failure or have let yourself or your family down	0	1	2	3
7. Trouble concentrating on things such as reading a newspaper or watching television	0	1	2	3
8. Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed. Or the opposite - being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual	0	1	2	3
9. Thoughts that you would be better off dead or hurting yourself in some way	0	1	2	3

If you circled any problems above, how difficult have these problems made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?

Not difficult at all difficult

Somewhat difficult

Very difficult

Extremely







Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by the following problems?²

	Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
1. Feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge	0	1	2	3
2. Not being able to stop or control worrying	0	1	2	3
3. Worrying too much about different things	0	1	2	3
4. Trouble relaxing	0	1	2	3
5. Being so restless that it is hard to sit still	0	1	2	3
6. Becoming easily annoyed or irritable	0	1	2	3
7. Feeling afraid as if something awful might happen	0	1	2	3

If you circled any problems, how difficult have these problems made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?



1. Do you have a computer (YES or NO) or a tablet (YES or NO) at home?

How often do you use your computer? (all the time / often / sometimes / rarely / never)

How often do you use your tablet? (all the time / often / sometimes / rarely / never)

2. Do you do puzzles? YES or NO (all the time / often / sometimes / rarely / never)

3. Do you play video games? YES or NO (all the time / often / sometimes / rarely / never)

- a) What type of games do you typically play? ACTION (time pressure) or NON-ACTION
- b) How would you rate your skill compared to your peers? (Low / Intermediate / High)

4. To your knowledge, does anyone in your family have any form of dementia? YES or NO

a) What is their relationship to you (e.g., mother/father/brother/sister, maternal aunt/uncle/grandmother/grandfather/cousin, paternal aunt/uncle/grandmother/grandfather/cousin). List all if more than one relative.

THE FOLLOWING IS A LIST OF ACTIVITIES THAT PEOPLE MAY PARTICIPATE IN. PLEASE INDICATE THE FREQUENCY (IN DAYS PER WEEK) THAT YOU TYPICALLY PARTICIPATE IN THESE ACTIVITES FOR EACH ITEM CHOOSE FROM ONE OF THE FOLLOWING ALTERNATIVES:

	NEVER RARELY SOMETIMES FAIRLY OFTEN VERY OFTEN (1 DAY (2 DAYS (3-4 DAYS (5-7 DAYS /WEEK) /WEEK) /WEEK) /WEEK)						
		0	1	2	3	4	
1.	WATCHING TV OR MOVIES	0	1	2	3	4	
2.	READING	0	1	2	3	4	
3.	SOCIALIZING (E.G. PLAYING CARDS, TALK TO FRIENDS, ETC.)	0 XING	1	2	3	4	
4.	PLAYING REC SPORTS	0	1	2	3	4	
5.	PLAYING COMPETITIVE SPORTS	0	1	2	3	4	
6.	PLAYING VIDEO/ COMPUTER GAMES	0	1	2	3	4	
7.	WALKING (AT LEAST 25 MINUTES)	0	1	2	3	4	
8.	LISTENING TO MUSIC	0	1	2	3	4	
9.	EXERCISING AT A GYM	0	1	2	3	4	
10.	DOING NON-LABOUR WORK (PAID OR VOLUI	0 NTEER)	1	2	3	4	
11.	DOING LABOUR WORK (E.G. LANDSCAF SHOVELING, PAINTING	0 PING 6, ETC. P	1 AID OR V	2 /oluntei	3 ER)	4	
12.	RUNNING/JOGGING	0	1	2	3	4	

13. PUZZLES, ARTS & 01234CRAFTS (E.G. KNITTING, CROSSWORDS, ETC.)

Please return this form to the experimenter (if you are filling this out in the lab), or email the electronic version to lsergio@yorku.ca. Thank you for being in the study!

References:

1. PHQ-9 is adapted from PRIME MD TODAY, developed by Dr. Robert L. Spitzer, Janet B. Williams, Kurt Kroenke, and colleagues, with an educational grant from Pfizer inc. Copyright © 1999 Pfizer Inc. All rights reserved. PRIME MD TODAY is a trademark of Pfizer Inc

2. Developed by Drs. Robert L. Spitzer, Janet B.W. Williams, Kurt Kroenke, and colleagues, with an educational grant from Pfizer Inc. No permission required to reproduce, translate, display or distribute.

INFORMED CONSENT

School of Kinesiology and Health Science,

York University, Toronto, ON Canada

Study Title: The influence of sex-related differences in cognitive-motor integration

on brain injury recovery in working-aged adults

Principal Investigator: Dr. Lauren E. Sergio (Professor)

This study will look at the brain using MRI (magnetic resonance imaging) to examine if postconcussion coordination dysfunction is associated with altered brain activity/connectivity. The research team is headed by Dr. Lauren Sergio in the School of Kinesiology and Health Science, Faculty of Health, York University.

What you will be asked to do in the research: Your participation involves some questionnaires, an MRI scan, a few coordination tasks, and a saliva sample:

1) Questionnaires (10-15 minutes): Forms include a general medical history, perceived impact of dizziness on daily life, a short checklist of your current concussion symptoms, and an MRI safety screening. You will be asked to fill out the MRI safety screening form ahead of time to be sure it is safe to put them in the MRI. This is the standardized form used by the Neuroimaging Facility at York University. If a safety exclusion is noted in the form, the participant will be informed that we cannot safely scan them, and the form will be destroyed. If initial assessment shows that it is safe to scan the participant using MRI, this form will also be reviewed by the MRI technologist on the day of the scan and will be kept in a locked cabinet in the MRI facility with their records after the session is finished.

2) Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI, 30 – 45 minutes): Your participation will involve measuring the anatomy and activity of your brain using MRI. MRI scanners image your brain using radio waves and very strong magnetic fields. You will then be asked to remove any metallic objects (for example, wallets, watches, earrings, or piercings) and possibly to change clothing into a gown that we will provide (if deemed necessary because of large zippers etc.). You will be required to lay completely still on the patient bed that will slide into the MRI scanner. You will be able to communicate with us via a built-in intercom. You will be holding an emergency bulb that you can squeeze at any time to let us know you want to come out of the MRI scanner. You will be given breaks between tasks if you wish.

3) Eye-hand-balance coordination tests: (10 - 15 minutes) You will stand inside an augmented reality space in a laboratory wearing clear, lightweight goggles, and you will be asked to walk around a large circle while reaching to virtual objects along the path. In the second task, you will sit at a desk and move your finger along the screen of a tablet computer to reach targets

that will show up on the screen.

4) Saliva sample: (5 minutes) You will be asked to provide a small saliva sample (a few ml) by spitting into a plastic tube. The purpose of this is so that we can characterize the effect of different hormone levels on brain and behaviour.

This is Not a Clinical Evaluation: The images of your brain collected in this study are not intended to reveal any disease state, in part because this MRI protocol is not designed for clinical diagnosis. Thus, your brain images will not be routinely examined by a clinical radiologist. The personnel at the Neuroimaging Laboratory are not qualified to medically evaluate your images. However, if in the course of collecting images of your brain we have any concerns, we may show your scans to a clinical radiologist, who may suggest that you obtain further diagnostic tests.

At the investigator's discretion, you may view your brain images and receive digital copies of them. However, you should be aware that brain structures within the normal population are highly variable, and that it is difficult to draw any conclusions from your images; you should be aware of the potential distress or discomfort that may occur by viewing your own images. Do not rely on this research MRI to detect or screen for brain abnormalities.

Risks and Discomforts: We do not foresee any risks or discomfort from your participation in the research unless you have one of the conditions listed below - please read thoroughly.

MRI -

Metal: The MRI scanner produces a constant strong magnetic field, which may cause any metal implants, clips and/or fragments within your body to shift position. The magnetic field may also cause any implanted medical devices to malfunction. Thus, if you have any implanted metal, clips, fragments, or devices, it may be hazardous to your health to participate in this study. Please provide us with as much information as you can, for example if you had surgery in the past, so that we may decide whether it is safe for you to be a subject. Metallic objects brought into the MRI environment can become hazardous projectiles. Metal items such as jewelry, body piercings, and hair clips must all be removed prior to the study.

Pregnancy: Exposure to MRI scanning might be harmful to a pregnant female or an unborn child. Although there are no established guidelines at this time about MR and pregnancy, you should be informed that there is a possibility of a yet undiscovered pregnancy related risk. If you know or suspect you may be pregnant or if you do not want to expose yourself to this risk, we recommend that you do not participate in this study.

Inner ear damage: MRI scanning produces loud noises that can cause damage to the inner ear if appropriate sound protection is not used. Earplugs will be provided to protect your ears.

Claustrophobia: When you are inside the MRI scanner, the MRI scanner surrounds your body and your head will also be positioned inside a close-fitting scanning coil. If you feel anxious in confined spaces, you may not want to participate. If you decide to participate and begin to feel claustrophobic later, you will be able to tell us via the intercom and we will discontinue the study immediately. Burns: In rare cases, contact with the MRI transmitting and receiving coil, conductive materials such as wires, metallic fibers in clothing, other metallic objects, or skin-to-skin contact that forms conductive loops may result in excessive heating and burns during the experiment. The operators of the MRI scanner will take steps, such as using foam pads when necessary, to minimize this risk. Tattoos with metallic inks can also potentially cause burns. Any heating or burning sensations during a scan in progress should be reported to the operators immediately and we will discontinue the scan.

Besides the risks listed above, there are no other known risks from the magnetic field or radio waves at this time. Although functional MRI scanning has been used for more than 20 years, long-term effects are unknown. If new findings about the risks of the MRI technique become available within a year of your participation, we will let you know about them.

As well, you may become fatigued during the experiment. We will be monitoring you continuously and asking you to report your comfort level throughout the experiment. You will be given breaks or can stop entirely as needed.

Voluntary Participation: Your participation in the study is completely voluntary and you may choose to stop participating at any time. If you do not volunteer for the study, this decision will not influence any treatment that you may be receiving, the nature of the ongoing relationship you may have with the researchers or study staff, or the nature of your relationship with York University now or in the future.

Withdrawal from the Study: You can stop participating in the study at any time, for any reason. If you decide to stop participating, all associated data collected will be immediately destroyed wherever possible. Your decision to stop participating, or to refuse to answer questions, will not affect your relationship with the researchers, York University, or any other group associated with this project. You will be provided with a parking pass for the York Imaging facility should you require it. If you withdraw from the study you will still be able to use the parking pass and receive your compensation.

Confidentiality: All information obtained during the research will be held in confidence to the fullest extent possible by law. In no case will your personal information be shared with any other individuals or groups without your expressed written consent. Your brain images and associated data will be stored on secured computer servers and will be archived indefinitely. The experimental data acquired in this study may, in an anonymized form that cannot be connected to you, be used for teaching purposes, be presented at meetings, published, shared with other scientific researchers, or used in future studies. Your name or other identifying information will not be used in any publication, presentation, or teaching materials without your specific permission. The consent forms and code sheets that contain identifying information are kept locked in a secure location.

Questions about the research: If you have questions about the research in general or about your role in the study, please feel free to contact Dr. Sergio either by telephone at (416) 736-2100, extension 33641 or by e-mail (lsergio@yorku.ca). This research has received ethics review and

approval by the Human Participants Review Sub-committee, York University's Ethics Review Board and conforms to the standards of the Canadian Tri-Council Research Ethics guidelines. If you have any questions about this process or about your rights as a participant in the study, please contact the Sr. Manager & Policy Advisor for the Office of Research Ethics, 5th Floor, York Research Tower, York University (telephone 416-736-5914 or e-mail ore@yorku.ca).

Legal Rights and Signatures:

I, ______(fill in your name here) consent to participate in the study "The influence of sex-related differences in cognitive-motor integration on brain injury recovery in working-aged adults" conducted by Dr. Lauren E. Sergio. I understand the nature of this project and wish to participate. I am not waiving any of my legal rights by signing this form. My signature below indicates my consent.

Signature

Date

Participant

C: Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire – RPQ*

After a head injury or accident some people experience symptoms which can cause worry or nuisance. We would like to know if you now suffer from any of the symptoms given below. As many of these symptoms occur normally, we would like you to compare yourself now with before the accident. For each one, please circle the number closest to your answer.

0 = Not experienced a tall

- 1 = No more of a problem
- 2 = A mild problem
- 3 = A moderate problem
- 4 = A severe problem

Compared with before the accident, do you now (i.e., over the last 24 hours) suffer from:

Headaches	0	1	2	3	4
Feelings of Dizziness	0	1	2	3	4
Nausea and/or Vomiting	0	1	2	3	4
Noise Sensitivity,					
easily upset by loud noise	0	1	2	3	4
Sleep Disturbance	0	1	2	3	4
Fatigue, tiring more easily	0	1	2	3	4
Being Irritable, easily angered	0	1	2	3	4
Feeling Depressed or Tearful	0	1	2	3	4
Feeling Frustrated or Impatient	0	1	2	3	4
Forgetfulness, poor memory	0	1	2	3	4
Poor Concentration	0	1	2	3	4
Taking Longer to Think	0	1	2	3	4
Blurred Vision	0	1	2	3	4
Light Sensitivity,					
Easily upset by bright	0	1	2	3	4
light					
Double Vision	0	1	2	3	4
Restlessness	0	1	2	3	4
Are you experiencing any other difficulties?					
1.	0	1	2	3	4
2.	0	1	2	3	4

*King, N., Crawford, S., Wenden, F., Moss, N., and Wade, D. (1995) J. Neurology 242: 587-592



Dizziness Handicap Inventory

Instructions: The purpose of this scale is to identify difficulties that you may be experiencing because of your dizziness. Please check "always", <u>or</u> "no" <u>or</u> "sometimes" to each question. Answer each question only as it pertains to your dizziness problem.

	Questions	Always	Sometimes	No
1	Does looking up increase your problem?			
2	Because of your problem, do you feel frustrated?			
3	Because of your problem, do you restrict your travel for business or pleasure?			
4	Does walking down the aisle of a supermarket increase your problem?			
5	Because of your problem, do you have difficulty getting into or out of bed?			
6	Does your problem significantly restrict your participation in social activities, such as going out to dinner, going to movies, dancing or to parties?			
7	Because of your problem, do you have difficulty reading?			
8	Does performing more ambitious activities like sports, dancing, and household chores, such as sweeping or putting dishes away; increase your problem?			
9	Because of your problem, are you afraid to leave your home without having someone accompany you?			
10	Because of your problem, have you been embarrassed in front of others?			
11	Do quick movements of your head increase your problem? Because of your problem, do you avoid			
	heights? Does turning over in bed increase your problem?			

14	Because of your problem, is it difficult for you to do strenuous housework or yard work?		
15	Because of your problem, are you afraid people may think that you are intoxicated?		
16	Because of your problem, is it difficult for you to go for a walk by yourself?		
17	Does walking down a sidewalk increase your problem?		
18	Because of your problem, is it difficult for you to concentrate?		
19	Because of your problem, is it difficult for you to walk around your house in the dark?		
20	Because of your problem, are you afraid to stay home alone?		
21	Because of your problem, do you feel handicapped?		
22	Has your problem placed stress on your relationship with members of your family or friends?		
23	Because of your problem, are you depressed?		
24	Does your problem interfere with your job or household responsibilities?		
25	Does bending over increase your problem?		

DHI Scoring Instructions

The patient is asked to answer each question as it pertains to dizziness or unsteadiness problems, specifically considering their condition during the last month. Questions are designed to incorporate functional (F), physical (P), and emotional (E) impacts on disability.

To each item, the following scores can be assigned: No=0 Sometimes=2 Always=4 Scores: Scores greater than 10 points should be referred to balance specialists for further evaluation.

16-34 Points (mild handicap)

36-52 Points (moderate handicap)

54+ Points (severe handicap)